STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER

Lori A. Weaver 129 PLEASANT STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301-3857
Commissioner _ 603-271-9200 1-300-852-3345 Ext. 9200
) Fax: 603-271-4912 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964 www.dhhs.nh.gov
Morissa S, Henn
Deputy Commissiener

June 13, 2024

HlS Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council
-State House
Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Commissioner, to
enter into a Sole Source amendment to an existing contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial
Hospital (VC#177160), Lebanon, New Hampshire, to continue the work of evaluating the
transformed crisis system, New Hampshire Rapld Response, and increase clinical staff at the
Sununu Youth Service Center (SYSC), by increasing the price limitation by $614,928 from
$9,109,658 to $9,724,586 with no change to the contract completion date of June 30, 2025,
effective upon Governor and Council approval. 53% Federal Funds, 47% General Funds. The
original contract was approved by Governor and Council on March 23, 2022, item #10.

- Funds are available in the following. accounts for State Fiscal Years 2024 and 2025, with
the authority to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between
state fiscal years through the Budget Office, if needed and justified.

See aftached fiscal details.
' EXPLANATION

Thls request is Sole Source because MOP 150 requires all amendments to agreements
previously approved as sole source to be identified as sole source. This amendment will
accomplish two separate deliverables from the Contractor including the completion of an
evaluation of the statewide Rapid Response system and an increase in the number of licensed
clinicians available to support the residents of the Sununu Youth Services Center (SYSC).

The first purpose of this request is to utilizé one-time American Rescue Plan (ARPA)
Mental Health Block Grant funds to continue the evaluation of the statewide Rapid Response
crisis system. The Contractor will continue to provide recommendations for continuous quality
improvement and support the development of the final pillar of the Crisis Now mode) (Somewhere
to Go). Additionally, the Contractor will also finalize data-driven dashboards that could not be
completed on the original timetable. The Contractor has worked closely over the past year to
_validate all data points and has begun mapping the data to produceé internal and external

dashboards. The Contractor will continue providing system improvement recommendations and
technical assistance. Lastly, the Contractor will issue a final report inclusive of final internal and -
external data dashboards and ongoing quality oversight tools, precesses, and recommendations.

The second purpose of this amendment is to provide four (4) licensed clinicians to
enhance mental health support and ensure timely and continuous coverage for residents of the
Sununu Youth Services Center (SYSC). Comprehensive mentat health services at SYSC focus
on stabilization, mitigation of risk, and preparing youth for a successful return-to the community.



His Excellency, Govemor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council
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Approximately 40,000 individuals were served by the New Hampshire Rapid Résponse
crisis system durlng State Fiscal Year 2023 and approximately 10 to'20 youth per month receive
mental health services at SYSC.

The Department will monitor contracted services by reviewing recommandations for
improvements and sustainability of the rapid response crisis system and by communicating with
SYSC around the implementation of additional clinical support and the resulting increases in
stability and support of the youth served.

Should the Governor and Coungil not authonze this request the Department will have
limited ability to continue to evaluate the rapid response crisis system, thereby delaying the
implementation of im‘provem.ent programs.

Area served. Statewide.
Source of Federal Funds; Assistance Listing Number #93.958, FAIN #BOISM085371.

In the event that the Federal Funds hecome no longer available, additional General Funds
will not be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted,

N

Lori A. Weaver _(;,
Commissioner

The Department of Health and Human Services’ Mission is to join conimunities and families
tn providing opportunities for cilizens to nchieve health and independence.
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- Kiscal Details

Lo

T i88-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A01

05-95-95-950010-50000000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS DEPT,
CONMMISSIONER'S OFFICE, OFFICE OF THE COMMISSIONER, COMMISSIONER'S OFFICE

S'tate . Job Current Increased Revised
Iil;t:l | Class / Account Class Title Number Budget (Dzzzgi?tzd) Budget .
2022 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc | 95063303 $148,811 $0 $148,811
2023 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc | 95063303 $459,358 $0 $459,358
Subtotal $608,169 30 $608,169

05-95-47-470010-79370000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS DEPT,
DIVISION OF MEDICAID SERVICES, OFFICE OF MEDICAID SERVICES, MEDICAID ADMINISTRATION

State - ' ‘ Job Current Increased Revised

Fiscal | Class/ Account Class Title’ _ " (Decreased) | n.

Year Number Budget Amount Budget
2024 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Sve | 47000021 $472,670 $0| $472,670
2025 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Sve | 47000021 $486,381 $0 $486,381
' ' Subtotal | $959,051 $0| $959,051

05-95-42-421510-66430000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS DEPT, HHS:

HUMAN SERVICES, SUNUNU YOUTH SERVICE CENTER, SYSC HB2 91:327

State ‘ o Increased . -
.Fiscal | Class/ Account Class Title NL;J;Eer gﬂgeztt | (Decreased) ';i‘gsz?
Year : g Amount 9
Medical Payments to
2022 | 101-506224 Providers 42151501 $279,985 50 $279,985
Medical Payments to
2023 | 101-506224 Providers 42151501 $864,807 $0 $864,807
Medical Payments to
2024 | 101-506224 Providers 421 51 501" $899,406 $0 $890,406
Medical Payments to
2025 | 101-506224 Providers 42151501 $916,773 . $289,928 | $1 ,205,701
Subtotal | $2,951,971 $289,928 | $3,241,899

05-95-92-922010-41170000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS DEPT, HHS:
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES, CMH PROGRAM SUPPORT

State Job Current Increased Revised
Fiscal | Class/ Account Class Title (Decreased)
Year . Number Budget Amount Budget
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2022 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 92204117 $199,947 $0 $199,947
2023 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc | 92204117 | $616,422 $0 $616,422
2024 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Sve | 92204117 | $634,191 $0 $634,191
2025 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc | 92204117 | $652,492 $0 $652,492

Subtotal | $2,103,052 $0 | $2,103,052

05-95-92-922010-41200000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS DEPT, HHS:

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES, MENTAL

HEALTH BLOCK

GRANT .

State : Increased .

Fiscal | Class / Account Class Title N:;ger : g‘dg;gtt (Decreased) I;i‘gzzf

Year Amount

2022 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Sve | 92254120 $97,114 $0 |  $97,114

2023 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Sve | 92254120 | $286,437 $0 $286,437

2024 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc | 92254120 | $207,564 $50,000 $257,564

2025 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc | 92254120 $84,041 $275,000 $359,041
Subtotal | $675,156 $325,000 | $1,000,156

05-95-48-481010-78720000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS DEPT, HHS:
DLTSS-ELDERLY&ADULT SVCS, GRANTS FOR SOCIAL SVC PROG, ADM ON AGING

State Increased ,
Fiscal | Class/ Account Class Title Nt;j:ltt:er gﬂge'e‘: (Decreased) RBeu\gsZEI
. Year ) 9 Amount g
Social Services ' '
2022 | 540-500382 Contract 48130305 $13,420 ' $0 $13,420
Social Services )
2023 | 540-500382 Contract 481 30305 $41,461 $0 $41,461
; Sccial Services . ~
2024 | 540-500382 Contract 48130305 $42,696 $0 $42 696
. Social Services ;
2025 | 540-500382 Contract 48130305 $43,968 $0 $43,968
Subtotal | $141,545 $0| $141,545

05-95-93-930010-51910000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS DEPT, HHS:

DLTSS-DEVELOPMENTAL SVCS, DIV OF DEVELOPMENTAL SERVICES, SPECIAL MEDICAL

SERVICES
State : Increased .
Fiscal | Class/ Account Class Title Nl.‘lj;ger gﬂg;gtt (Decreased) Féi‘:;‘;?
Year ' ) Amount :
2022 | 561-500911 Specialty Clinics 93001000 $30,000 $0 $30,000
2023 | 561-500911 'Specialty Clinics 93001000 $30,000 $0 $30,000
2024 | 561-500911 Specialty Clinics 93001000 |  $30,000 $0 $30,000
2025 | 561-500911 Specialty Clinics 93001000 $30,000 $0 $30,000
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Subtotal | $120,000 |

$0| $120,000]

| 05-95-93-930010-51910000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS DEPT, HHS:
DLTSS-DEVELOPMENTAL SVCS, DIV OF DEVELOPMENTAL SERVICES, PROGRAM SUPPORT

State . Increased .
Fiscal | Class/Account "Class Title Nt;jn?tbb er gﬂg;:tt (Decreased) };?J‘g;z:l
Year . _ Amount
2022 .| 561-500911 Specialty Clinics 93005947 $74,788 $0 $74,788
2023 | 561-500911 Specialty Clinics 93005947 | $293,514 $0| $293,514
2024 | 561-500911 Specialty Clinics 93005947 | $302,938 -$0 | $302,938
2025 | 561-500011 Specialty Clinics 93005947 | $312,645 $0| $312,645
Subtotal | ~ $983,885 ' $0) $983,885

05-95-92-920510-19810000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS DEPT, HHS: -
BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF DRUG & ALCOHOL SERVICES, SABG ADDITIONAL

State , ' i Job Current Increased Revised

FYls;c;arll Class / Account Clgss Title Number | Budget (ch;zzﬁd) Budget
2022 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc | 92055902 $77,876 ‘ $0 $77,876
2023 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc | 92055902 | $231,038 $0| $231,038
2024 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Sve | 92055002 | $173,875 $0 $173,875
2025 | 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Sve | 92055902 $84,040 $0 $84,040.
Subtotal | $566,829 30| $566,829
Total $9,109,658 $614,928 | $9,724,586
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services
Amendment #1

This Amendment to the Clinical and Adminlstratlve Services contract is by and between the State of New
Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services ("State” or "Department") and Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on March 23, 2022 (ltem #10), the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms
and conditions specified in the Contract and in consideration of certain sums specified; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to- Form P-37, General Provisions, the Contract may be amended upon written
agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:
$9,724,586

2. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.9, Contracting Officer for State Agency, to read:
Robert W. Moore, Director

3. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services, Section 1.7.5.1, to read;

1.7.6.1 The Contractor shall provide four (4) licensed Clinicians to provide clinical support
and services to SYSC residents in accordance with SYSC policies and protocols.
Two (2) of the licensed clinicians shall work Monday through Friday approximately
9:00am to 5:00pm. One (1) of the licensed clinicians shall work Monday through
Friday second shift, approximately 12:00pm to 8:00pm. One (1) of the licensed
clinicians shall work Friday through Monday, approximately 10:00am to 8:00pm.
Services shall include, but are not limited to: .

17511 Individual, group and family therapy;

1.7.51.2 Watch assessments;

1.7.6.1.3 Crisis intervention and/or support and processing; and
1.75.1.4 Development of youth treatment plans.

4. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services, Section 1.7.5.2, to read:

1.7.56.2 The Contractor shall ensure on-call service coverage by either the Staff
Psychologist or Clinicians, Monday through Friday from 5:00 p m. to 7:00 a.m. and
weekends.

5. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services, Section 1.7.5.5, to read:

1.7.5.5 The Clinicians shall prepare parole and court reports and participate in hearings as
necessary.

6. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services; Section 1.8.5 title, to read:

1.8.5 Crisis System Transformation Evaluation (Phase 1: Sections 1.8.5.1 — 1.8.5.5 and
' Phase II: 1.8.5.6 — 1.8.5.7)

7. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services; Section 1.8.5.3 title, with no change to the rest of the section,
to read:

1.8.5.3 The Contractors must work with the Department to evaluate and i@ the
EM

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.3 Contractor Initials

6/9/202&4
§5-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-AQ1 ~ Page 1 of 5 ate
v7.12.23
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transformation of NH's crisis system by:
8. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services; Sectlon 1.8.5.3 title, with no change to the rest of the section,

to read:

1.8.5.4 The Contractors must work with the Department to evaluate and inform the
transformation of NH's crisis system by:

8. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services; Section 1.8.5.3 title, with no change to the rest of the section,

to read:

1.8.5.5 The Contractors must work with the Départment to evaluate and inform the
transformation of NH's crisis system by: .

10. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services; Section 1.8.5.6 title, with no change to the rest of the section,

fo read:

1.8.568. The Contractors must work with the Department to support, refine, and guide
sustainability of the transformation of NH'’s crisis system by:

11. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services; Section 1.8.5.7, to read:

1.8.5.7.  In collaboration with the Department, the Contractor must prepare a public report
regarding efficacy and outcomes of the crisis system transformation. The final
report shall include, but is not limited to:

1.85.7.1.
1.8.5.7.2.
1.8.5.7.3.
1.8.5.7.4.

1.8.5.7.5.
1.8.5.7.6.

Findings from both quantitative and qualitative data collected at
various time points;

Summary of needed adaptations, if applicable, with rationale and
recommendations;

Summary of any |dent1f|ed crisis system gaps that became evident
throughout the analysis;

Evaluation findings regarding the “fit” of the crisis model to rural
settings, staffing capacity, and funding and other resources
necessary to meet current and anticipated future needs; and

Recommendations for crisis system sustainability.

The final internal and external data dashboards, final quality
oversight tools, and processes and recommendatlons for ongoing
oversight and next steps.

12. Modify Exhibit B, Scope of Services; Section 1.8.5.8, to read:

1.8.5.8. Reserved

13. Modify Exhibit C, Payment Terms, Section 1, to read:
1. This Agreement is funded by:
1.1.  30% Federal Funds from:

1.1.1. The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS), Assistance Listing
Number (ALN) #93.778, FAIN# 2405NH5ADM;

1.1.2. Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child
Health Block Grant, ALN #93.994, FAIN# B0452939; '

1.1.3. Administration on Aging, Title Ill-B Social Services, ALN #93.044, FAIN#
2401NHOASS;

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

$§8-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A01
v7.12.23

DS
‘ EM
A-S-1.3 Contractor Initials.

Page 2 of 5 Date 6/9/2024
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1.1.4. Substance Abuse & Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA),

Community Mental Health Block Grant, ALN #93.958, FAIN # B09SM085371;
and _

1.1.5. SAMHSA, Substance Abuse Block Grant ARPA, ALN #93.959, FAIN#
1B08TI083955. '

1.2. 70% General funds. -

14. Modify Exhibit C-2, Budget Sheet, by replacing it in its entirety with Exhibit C-2, Budget Sheet,
- Amendment #1 which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

15. Modify Exhibit C-5, Budget Sheet, by replacing it in its. entirety with Exhibit C-5, Budget Sheet,
Amendment #1 which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

Ds
&m
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital , A-8-1.3 Contractor Initials
8rapser———
§5-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-AC1 ‘ Page 3 of 5 Date

v7.12.23
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All terms and conditions of the Contract not modified by this Amendment re-maiin in. full force énd effect.
This Amendment shall be effective upon Governor and Council approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

DocuSigned by:
6/10/2024 | Katjs S. For
Date Name: Katja S. Fox
Title: Director

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

DocuSigned by:

6/9/2024 Edward J. Mesress, MD, MHCDS
Date Nam};’;”E&“&&"FB“ J. Merrens, MD, MHCDS
Title:

chief Clinical offi cer

Mary Hitchcock Memaorial Hospital A-5-1.3

§$8-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A01 Page 4 of 5
v. 71223 -
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and

execution.
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
Ducusig.ned by:
6/10/2024 st Gunano
Date Name: Robyn Guarino

Title:  attorney

| hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Dats ’ Name:
Title:

Mary Hitchcock Memorlal Hospital A-S§-1.3

§5-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-AD1 'Page 50f 5

v.7.12.23
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Exhibit C-2, Amendment #1 Budget

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Contractor Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Mospital
Clinical and Administrative Services - Service Area
Budget Requast for: #3 Bsfavieral Health
Budget Perlod;: SFY22 through SFY25
Indirect Cost Rate (If applicable) 15.00%
Linofom- 7 |Pragram t_fés’i; Funded}: - Program Cost - Funided by
AR - by DHHS - SFY 22 +- DHHS=8FY 24 -
1. Salary & Wages $188,531 $582,560 SGDO,DSTI $805,386
2. Fringe Benefits $51.601 $159,446 $164 229 $230,419
3. Consultants $0 $0 $0 0
4, Equipment
Indirect cost rale cannot be applied lo equipment costs per 2 $0 $0 $0 $0
CFR 200.1 and Appendix IV to 2 CFR 200,
5.{a) Supplies - Educational $0 $0 $0 $0
§.4b) Supplies - Lab $0 50 $0 $0
5.{(c) Supplies - Pharmacy $0 $0 Q 0
6.(d} Supplies - Medical $0 50/ a 0
S.(e) Supplies - Offica $0 $0 0 0
IE. Travel $333 $1,000] $1.000 $1.500
|7.__Softwars $0 $0 80 80
|B. {a) Other - Marketing/Communications $0 30 50 $0
8. (b} Cther - Education 2nd Training 32,000 $8.000 39,000 $12,000
8. (c) Other - Other (spacify balow) $0 $0 $0 $0
Other (please specify) 30 $0 30 30
Qther (please specity) £0 30 $0) $0
Other {please specify) $0 $0 S0 $0
Other {please specify) 50 30 30 50
Other (please specify) 30 30 $0 £0
Gther {please specify) $0 30 s0 50
Cther {ploase specify) $0 $0 "~ %o 50
9. Subrecipient Contracts 30 $0 30 50
Tolal Direct Costs $243.465 $752 006 $774,266 $1,049,305
Total Indirect Costs $36,520) $112,801 $116,140 $157,396
Subtotais $279,985 $864,807 $890 406 $1.206,70
. grane L Lo TOTALE

$5-2022-0COM-02-CLINI01-A01

D3

(AL

Cantractor Inifials:

Dater

4
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-Exhibit C-5, Amendment #1 Budgat

K

$5-2022-0COM-02-CLINI-01-A01

Contractor |nitials:

Dalte:

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 7
Contracter Name: Mary Hitchcock Memoria! Hospital
Ciinical and Administrative Services - Service Area
. Budget Request for; #3 Behavioral Health
Budget Period; SFY22 through SFY25
Indirect Cost Rate (If applicable) 15.00%
B g i e E— I
IProgram Cost -__Fur@aé Program Cost - Funded | Pragram Cqs:_t'-fl_-':ungfed pfi | Prbgrini (‘.‘}')_s't'-_Funde‘ '
by DHHS« 8FY 22 by DHHS i S DHHS «SFY 24 - BFY 2
1. Salary & Wages $23,965 $13,569
2. Fringe Benefits $3.886 $12,005 38,243 34437
3. Consultants $0, 50 $21,740 $116.276
4, Equipment
Indirect cost rate cannct be applied to eguipment costs per 2 30 30 30 0
CFR 200.1 and Appendix IV to 2 CFR 200,
5.(a) Supplies - Educaticnal 50 $0 30 $0
5.(b)_Supplies - Lab ¢ 30 38 $0
5.(c} Supplies - Phammacy 30, 50 50 50
5.(d) Supplies - Medical 30 30 $0 $0
5.(6) Supplies - Offica $0 $0 39 50
6. Travel 50 30 $0 $0)
7. Seftware ) 30 30 1]
8. (a) Other - Marketing/Communications 0 $0 ) 0
8. (b) Other - Education and Training ) $0 30 $0
8. {¢) Other - Other (specify below) $C 30 £0 $0
Other (please specity) 30 30 50 30
Other (please specity) 50| $0 $0) 50
Other {please specify) 30 30 %0 20
Qther (please spscifi) . 50 0 50 30
Other (please specify) o 30 30 50
Other (please specify) ¢ 30 50 3¢
Other (please specify) i) 30 30 3]
9._Subrecipient Contracts $92,870 $264,532 §182,185 $116,276
Total Direct Costs $108,150 $311,437 $236,133 $254 558
Total Indirect Costs $46,716 $31570 $20442
Subtotals $358,153 $267.803| $275,000
it | 4 B s e TOTALE = = 5] 025,328
Ds

€

4
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State of New Hampshire
Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I, David M. Scanlan, Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL
HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on August 07, 1889.1
further certify that all fees and decuments required by the Secretary of State’s office have been received and is in good standing as

far as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 68517
Certificate Number: 0006622917

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOQF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed
thé Seal of the State of New Hampshire,
this 20th day of March A.D. 2024,

David M. Scanlan
Secretary of State
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, Dartmouth Dartmouth-Hitchcock Boards of Trustees

~ Health

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORITY

I, Roberta L. Hines, MD, do hereby certify that:

L.

I am the duly elected Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (together, “Daﬁmouth—Hitchcock”).
The following is a true and accurate excerpt from the Amended, Restated and Integrated Bylaws of the
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Corporations:

a. “ARTICLE II - Section A. Fiduciary Duty. Stewardship over Corporate Assets, As

- responsible stewards of tax-exempt, charitable Corporations, members of the Corporations’
Boards have the fiduciary duty to oversee, with due care and loyalty, the stewardship of the
Corporations’ assets and operations in order to create a sustainable health system that is population
focused and value-based, and to advance their respective corporate purposes. In exercising this
duty, the Boards may, consistent with the respective Corporation’s Articles of Agreement and
these Bylaws, delegate authority to Board Committees and other bodies, or to various officers, to
provide input with respect to issues and strategies, incur indebtedness, make expenditures, enter
into contracts and agreements and take such other binding actions on behalf of the Corporations
as may be necessary or desirable in furtherance of their charitable purposes.”

Pursuant to policy approved and adopted by the Boards of Trustees consistent with the above Bylaws
provision, the Chief Clinical Officer, Edward Merrens, MD, has subdelegated signature authority to enter
into contracts and agreements on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial
Hospital.

The foregoing authority shall remain in fulI force and effect as of the date of the agreement executed or
action taken in reliance upon this Certificate. This authority shall remain valid for thirty (30) days from
the date of this Certificate and the State of New Hampshire shall be entitled to rely upon same, until written

notice of modification, rescission or revocation of same, in whole or ini part, has been received by the State

of New Hampshire.

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, 1 have hereunto set my hand as the Chair of the Boards of Trustees of Dartmouth-
Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital this 157 day of June, 2024.

W 1413

Robertd L. Hines, MD, Board Chair
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DATE: June 29, 2023

MPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE
Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.

P.O. Box 1687 . .

30 Main Street, Suite 330 This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
Burlington, VT 05401 and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This
INSURED Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
One Medical Center Drive
Lebanon, NH 03756
(603)653-6850
.COVERAGES

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Pohcy Penod notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid claims.

afforded by the policies below.

POLICY

TYPE OF POLICY
INSURANCE POLICY NUMBER | EFFECTIVE EXPIRATION LIMITS
DATE DATE
GENERAL 0002023-A 7/1/2023 7/1/2024 EACH $1,000,000
LIABILITY OCCURRENCE
DAMAGETO | $1,000,000
RENTED
PREMISES
MEDICAL
X | CLAIMS MADE EXPENSES N/A
PERSONAL& | $1,000,000
ADV INJURY
OCCURRENCE GENERAL $3,000,000
- AGGREGATE
OTHER PRODUCTS- $1,000,000
COMP/OP AGG
0002023-A 7/1/2023 71112024 EACHCLAIM | $1,000,000
PROFESSIONAL .
LIABILITY
x | cLAIMS MADE ANNUAL $3,000,000
AGGREGATE
OCCURENCE "
OTHER

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/ LOCATIONS/ VEHICLES/ SPE(Z:IAL ITEMS (LIMITS MAY BE SUBJECT TO RETENTIONS)

Certificate is issued as evidence of insurance.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER -

NH Department of Health and Human Services CANCELLATION

120 Pleasant Street Should any of the above desmbed policies be cancelled before the expiration date
thereof, the issuing company will endeavor to mail 30 DAYS written notice to the

Concord, NH 03301 certificate holder named below, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no

obligation or liability of any kind upon the company, its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

il




DocuSign Envelope ID: D9D313FA-1280-4452-8754-DTAABADB28E3
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CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

DARTHIT-01 LSTILES
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY}

711012023

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED  AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED

IMPORTANT:

If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.

If SUBROGATION 1S WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

propucer License # 1780862

CONTACT | guren Stiles

NAME
HUB International New England . FAX .
100 Central Street _(_c, o, Ext: _ _ _ | {AIC, No:
Suite 201 Sk ss. Lauren.Stiles@hubinternational.com
Holliston, MA 01746 INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #
insurer A : Safety National Casualty Corporation 15105
INSURED INSURER B :
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health INSURER G :
1 Medical Center Dr. INSURERD :
Lebanon, NH 03756
INSURERE :
INSURERF :
COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

THIS 5 TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

R TYPE OF INSURANCE DL iSeR POLICY NUMBER Ao | e LIMITS
COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY EACH QCCURRENCE 5
CLAIMS-MADE I::I OCCUR DAMAGETORENTED | o
MED EXP (Any ane parsen)__| §
. PERSONMAL & ADV INJURY | §
GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE §
POLICY |:| ES; PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG | §
OTHER: 3
COMEINED SINGLE LIMI
AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY (Eg accident) G ! $
ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY {Per perscn) | §
OWNED SCHEDULED
AUTOS ONLY AUTOS BODILY INJURY {Per actident) | §
HIRED N PROPERTY DAMAGE
|1 AUTOS ONLY Aﬁjr“é%%? {Pef accident) 3
3
UMBRELLA LIAB OCCUR EACH CCCURRENCE $
EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE 3
DED | | RETENTION $ 3
A SRR XEFfure | T8
YIN
e S osa|  [AGCA0SESE2 TMI2023 | 772024 [ o s 1,000,000
Mandatory In NH) E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE| § 1,000,000
It yes, describa under
DESCRIPTICN OF QPERATIONS below E.L DISEASE - FOLICY LIMIT | 3 1,000,000

Evidence of Warkers Compensaticn coverage for

Cheshire Medical Center
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
Mary Hitchcock Memorlal Hospital
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital
New London Hospital Association
SEE ATTACHED ACORD 101

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached If more space is required)

129 Pleasant Street
Concord, NH 03301

|

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION
SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
NH DHHS THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELWERED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights.reserved.

The AGORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
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AGENCY CUSTOMER Ip: DARTHIT-01 . LSTILES

P ) Loc#: 1 , |
A$RD ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE ‘ Page 1 of 1
AGENCY License # 1780862( NAMED INSURED :

HUB International New England

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
1 Medical Center Dr.

POLICY NUMBER

Lebanon, NH 03756

ISEE PAGE 1
CARRIER NAIC CODE

SEE PAGE 1 SEEP 1 EFFECTIVE DATE: SFE PAGE 1
ADDITIONAL REMARKS

THIS ADDITIONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TO ACORD FORM,
FORM NUMBER: ACQM FORM TITLE: Certificate of Liability Insurance

Description of Operations/Locations/Vehicles:
Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health Center
Visiting Nurse Associates and Hospice of Vermont and New Hampshire

ACORD 101 (2008/01)

- © 2008 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD



About Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth
Hitchcock Clinics

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics—members of Dartmouth Health
{https:/fwww.dartmouth-health.org)—include Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center, the state’s
only academic medical center, and Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics, which provide primary
and specialty care throughout New Hampshire and Vermont. ‘

Our physicians and researchers collaborate with Geisel School of Medicine scientists and
faculty as well as other leading health care organizations to develop new treatments at the
cutting edge of medical practice bringing the latest medical discoveéries to the patient.

Who are Dartinouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Dartmouth Hitchcock
Clinics? -

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is the state's only academic medical center, and the
only Level | Adult and Level Il Pediatric Trauma Center in New Hampshire. The Dartmouth
Hitchcock Advanced Response Team {DHART), based in Lebanon and Manchester, provides
ground and air medical transportation to communities throughout northern New England.
In 2022, Dartmouth. Hitchcock Medical Center was named the #1 hospital in New
Hampshire by U.5. News & World Report (https://health.usnews.com/best-hospitals/area/nh}, and
recognized as high performing in 2 adult specialties, Cancer and Neurology/Neurosurgery,
as well as in 12 common adult procedures and conditions.

Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics



Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics provide primary and specialty care throughout New
Hampshire and Vermont, with major community group practices in Lebanon, Concord,
Manchester, Nashua, and Keene, New Hampshire, and Bennington, Vermont.

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is New Hampshire's only
children’s hospital and a member of the Children’s Hospital Association, providing
advanced pediatric inpatient, outpatient and surgical services at Dartrmouth Hitchcock
Medical Center,

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon

Norris Cotton Cancer Care Pavilion Lebanon {https://cancer.dartmouth.edu/), one of only 53
NCl-designated Comprehensive Cancer Centers in the nation, is one of the premier
facilities for cancer treatment, research, prevention, and education.

Our mission, vision, and values

Qur mission

We advance health through research, education, clinical practice and community
partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the right time, every
time.



Our vision

Achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the transformation of health care in our
region and setting the standard for our nation.

Our values

* Respect

¢ Integrity

+ Commitment
_» Transparency
o Trust

* Teamwork

» Stewardship

» Community

About Dartmouth Health tttps/mwwdartmouth-health org/f)

Copyright © 2023 Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center and Clinics. All rights reserved.
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries
Opinion

‘We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
and its subsidiaries (the "Health System"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets and of
cash flows for the years then ended, including the related notes {collectively referred to as the
"consolidated financial statements").

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Health System as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its
operations, changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

‘We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (US GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors'
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Health System and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the conselidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consclidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's
ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are
issued.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated finaneial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as frand may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would.
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 101 Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617} 530 5001, www.pwc.com/us
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In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Health System's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used-and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the |
consolidated financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Health System's ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Supplemental Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statéments
taken as a whole. The accompanying consolidating balance sheets and consolidating statements of
operations and changes in net assets without donor restrictions as of and for the years ended June 30,
2023 and 2022 (the “supplemental information”} is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is
not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. The consolidating information is not
intended to present, and we do not express an opinion on, the financial position, results of operations and
cash flows of the individual companies. The supplemental information is the responsibility of

- management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The supplemental information has been subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statemerits and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated
financial statements themselves and other additional procedures, in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplemental information is fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

Prtosotipo a2

Boston, Massachusetts
November 17, 2023



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
June 30, 2023 and 2022

{in thousands of dollars) 023 022
Assets
Current assets .
Cash and cash equivalents $ 115,996 § 191,929
Patient accounts receivable, net (Note 4) . 289,787 251,250
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 184,104 169,133
Total current assets 589,887 612,312
Assets limited as fo use (Noles 5 and 7) 1,071,462 1,181,094
Other investments for restricted activities (Notes 5 and 7) 182,224 175,116
Property, plant, and equipment, net {Note 6) 811,622 764,840
Right-of-use assets, net (Note 186) _ 55,528 . 58,925
Other assets 193,333 172,163
Total assets $ 2804056 § 2,964,450

Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) . $ 15236 § 6,596
Current portion of right-of-use obligations {Note 16) 11,334 11,318
Line of credit 40,000 -
Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement -
plan benefits (Note 11) -3,386 3,500
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 146,747 156,572
Accrued compensation and related benefits 137,467 190,560
Estimated third-party settlements (Note 3 and 4) 64,360 134,898
Total current liabilities 418,530 503,445
Long-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 10) 1,098,962 1,117,288
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion {Note 18) 45,671 48,824
Insurance deposits and related liabilities {Note 12) 91,349 78,391
Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits,
excluding current portion (Note 11) 206,305 228,608
Other liabilities 173,918 154,096
Total liabilities 2,034,735 2,130,650
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 3, 4, 6, 7, 10, 13, and 16)
Net assets
Net assets without donor restrictions (Note 9) 658,988 634,297
Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9) 210,333 198,503
Total net assets 869,321 833,800
Total liabilities and net assets $ 2904056 $ 2,964,450

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consclidated financial statements.

3



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 022
Operating revenue and other support » .
Net patient service revenue {Note 4) $ 2397157 § 2243237
Contracted revenue 84,345 77,666
Other operating revenue {Note 4) 608,875 534,031
Net assets released from restrictions 14,843 15,894
Total operating revenue and other support 3,105,221 2,870,828
Operating expenses .
Salaries 1,423,091 1,315,407
Employee benefits 33238 © - 322,570
Medications and medical supplies : 725,480 649,272
Purchased services and other 458,901 403,862
Medicald enhancement tax (Note 4) 85,715 82,725
Depreciation and amortization 90,457 86,858
Interest {Note 10) ) 34,515 32,113
Total operating expenses 3,150,545 2,892,907
Operating loss (45,324) (22,079)
Non-operating gains (josses)
Investment income {loss), net (Note 5) 58,119 (78,744)
Other components of net periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income (Note 11 and 14) (17,691) 13,910
Other [osses, net (8,530) (6,658)
Total non-operating gains (losses), net ' 31,898 {71,492)
Deficiency of revenue over expenses 3 (13,426) 5 (93,571)

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets — continues on next page
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thousands of dollars) 023 022

Net assets without donor restrictions

Deficiency of revenue over expenses $ (13,426 $ {93,571)

Net assets released from restrictions for capital 3,229 1,573

Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement

benefits (Note 11) ' 34,901 (32,309)

Other changes in net assets (13) (23)
Increase (decrease) in net assets without donor restrictions 24,681 {124,330)

Net assets with donor restrictions

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities , 23,637 39,710

Investmentincome (loss), net 5,846 (7,010)

Net assets released from restrictions {18,653) (17,467)
Increase in net assets with donor restrictions : 10,830 15,233
Change in net assets 35,521 {109,097)

Net assets

Beginning of year 833,800 942,897

End of year 3 869,321 $ 833,800

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

(in thouisandss of dollars) ' | 2023 2022
Cash flows from operating activities '
Change in net assets $ 35521 §  (109,097)

Adjustments lo reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities

Deprectation and amortization ) 90,306 . 87006
Amortization of bond premium, discount, and issuance cost, net (2,779) 2,764y
Amortization-of right-of-use asset . 9,242 9,270
Payments on right-of-use lease obligations - operating " (9,162) (9,190)
Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement benefits ) (34,901) 32,300
Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed assets (683) {523)
Net reslized gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments . (79,799) 86,652
Restricted contributions and investment eamings . s {(8,208) (20,151)
Proceeds from sales of donated securities 3,818 10,665
Changes in assets and liabilities :
Patient accounts receivable, net {38,537) (19,089)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ) 1,984 {9,915)
Other assets, net : {21,688) 2,517
.. Accounts’payable and accrued expenses : {31,082) 17,104
Accrued compensation and related benefits ' . (53,093) 8,490
Estimated third-party settlements : (71,907) {120,117)
JInsurance deposits and related liabilities 12,958 {(1,583)
Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits 12,486 (28,422}
Other liabilities 21,191 (56,687)
Net cash used in operating activities {164.033) {123,525}
Cash flows from.investing activities ‘ -
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment " (129,321) {160,855)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and eqmpment . 1,214 T 13
Purchases of investments {71,410} (65,288)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments ) 249,684 137,781
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ~ .~ 50,167 (87,747)
Cash flows from financing activities . ) o .
Proceeds from line of credit ’ 979,500 30,000
Payments on line of credit (939,500} (30,000)
Repayment of long-term dabt {81,907) (9,118)
[Proceeds from issuance of debt 75,000 o
Repayment of finance leases (3,599) (3,253)
Restricted confributions and investment earnings - 8,208 20,151
Net cash provided by financing activities 37,702 7,782
Decrease in cash and cash-equivalents {76,164) {203,490)
Cash and cash equivalents, heginning of year. . 193,485 396,975
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year § 147321 § 193,485
Supplemental cash flow information -
Interest paid ) $ 44362 3§ 42,867
Censtruction.in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses . 5,105 9407

Donated securities ) 3,818 10,665

The following table reconciles cash and.cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets to cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash on.the consolidated statements of cash flows,

Cash and cash equivalents . ‘ $ 115998 & 191,929
Cash and cash equivalents included in-assets limited as to use “ 1,350
Restricted cash and cash equivalents included in ather investments for restricted aclivities 1,325 206

Total of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown : )
“in the conselidated statements of cash flows . § 117321 § 193485

The accompanying notes are an integral dpart of these consolidated financial statements.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

“June 30, 2023 and 2022

1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health {D-HH), its Members, and their Subsidiaries (the Health System) is a
system of hospitals, clinics, and other healthcare service providers across New Hampshire and
Vermont. The Health System’s mission is to advance health through research, education, clinical
practice, and community partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at
the right time, every time, The Health System seeks to achieve the healthiest population possible,
leading the transformation of health care in the region and setting the standard for the nation. The
Health System's expanding network of services are the fabric of its commitment to serve the region
with exceptional medical care.

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the following entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (DHC) and Subsidiaries, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (MHMH)
and Subsidiaries, (OHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London Hospital
Association, Inc. (NLH), Windscr Hospital Corporation (d/bfa Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health
Center) (MAHHC) and Subsidiaries, The Cheshire Medical Center (Cheshire) and Subsidiaries,
Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital (APD) and Subsidiary, and Visiting Nurse Asscciation and
Hospice of Vermont and New Hampshire (VNH) and Subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community, and three acute care {critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health and hospice
service, The Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions and is the

- principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of Dartmouth
College.

D-HH, DHC, MHMH, NLH, Cheshire, and APD are NH not-for-profit corporations exempt from
federal income taxes under Section 501(c){3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). MAHHC and
VNH are VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3)
of the IRC.

On December 8, 2022, D-HH entered into an Integration Agreement with Valley Regional
Healthcare, Inc. (“VRHC") and its subsidiary Valley Regional Hospital and its affiliates (“"VRH"), a
critical access hospital located in Claremont, New Hampshire. The parties have submitted the
transaction for regulatory review by the New Hampshire Attorney General with a target closing date
in early 2024.

Community Benefits

‘Consistent with its migsion, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective, comprehensive,
and integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves regardless of a
patient's ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based healthcare and
promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social services
organizations. In addition, the Health System seeks to work collaboratively with other area
healthcare providers to improve the heaith status of the region. As a component of an integrated
academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic and
research programs.



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2023 and 2022

Certain member hospitals of the Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports with the
State of NH, which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by law to file a state Community Benefit Report. The categories used in the
Community Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows:

Community Health Improvement Services include activities carried out to improve community
health, and could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support
groups, and materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based clinical
services (such as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services
(enrollment assistance in public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs
medications, telepheone information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to
care, etc.).

Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students,
residents, nurses, and other health care professionals

Subsidized Health Services are services provided by the Health System, resulting in financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the
responsibility was assumed by the government.

Research includes costs, in excess of awards, for numerous health research and service
initiatives within the Health System.

Cash and In-Kind Contributions occur outside of the System through various financial
contributions of cash, in-kind donations, and grants to local organizations.

Community-Building Activities include expenses incurred to support the. development of
programs and partnerships intended to address public health challenges, as well as social and
economic determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,
economic development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

Charity Care includes losses, at-cost, incurred by providing health care services to persons
quealifying for hospital financial assistance programs.

The Uncompensated Cost of Care for Medicaid patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2022 was approximately $235,081, OOO The 2023 Commumty Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2024,



_Ijartmou'th-Hitchcc')ck Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2023 and 2022

“The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
Systemi's most recently filed Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2022:

{in thousands of doliars)

Uncompensated cost of care for Medicaid . $ 235,081
Health professional education 43,186
Subsidized health services 21,202
Charity care 16,011
Community health improvement services 15,695
Research 7,254
Cash and In-Kind Contributions ‘ 4,001
Community building activities . 2,834 -
Total community benefit value $ 345,264

In fiscal years 2023 and 2022, funds received to offset or subsidize charity care costs provided
were $438,000 and $452,0Q0, respectively.

For fiscal year 2022, Medicare costs exceading reimbursement totaled $157,615,000.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation ) ‘
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) ‘954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, gains, and losses of healthcare entities
are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, net
assets without donor restrictions are amounts. not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and are
available for operations. Net assets with' donor restrictions are those whose use has been limited
by donors to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been restricted by donors to be
maintained in perpétuity. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated upon
consolidation,

Use of Estimates .
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
. generally accepted in the Uhited States of America requires management to make estimates and
. assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pticing concessions, valuation of
certain investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates. oo ’
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Deficiency of Revenue over Expenses

The Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets include the deficiency of
revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to the care of
patients, including contributions and investment income (loss) on investments of net assets without
donor restrictions, which are utilized to provide charity and other operational support. Peripheral
activities, including realized gainsflosses on sales of investment securities and changes in
unrealized gainsflosses on investments are reported as non-operating gains (losses).

Changes in net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the deficiency of revenue
over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived assets
(including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the
purpose of acquiring such assets), and change in funded status of pension and other
postrefirement benefit plans.

Charity Care

The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge, or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts qualifying as charity care, they are not
reported as revenue.

The Health System grants credit, without collateral, to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit price concessions is
based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4).

Patient Service Revenue

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of consideration to which
the Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third party payors, and others, for services
rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-
party payors and implicit pricing concessions, Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personne! employed by the Health System and also
Ilease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs, and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts, have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Opérations and Changes in Net Assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue, which is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue, which consists primarily
of revenue from retail pharmacy, specialty pharmacy, and contract pharmacy, is recorded in the
amounts to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the prescriptions. Other revenue also
includes Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities Act {CARES Act Provider Relief Funds)
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from the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), CARES Act Employee Retention
Credit Funds, operating agreements, grant revenue, cafeteria. sales, and other support sennce
revenue (Note 3 and 4),

Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash -equivalents include amounts on deposit with financial institutions, short-term .
investments with maturities of three months or [ess at the time of purchase, and other highly liquid
investments (primarily cash management funds), which would be considered level 1 investments
under the fair value hierarchy. All short-term, highly liquid, investments included within the Health
System's endowment and similar investment pools, otherwise qualifying as cash equivalents, are
classified as investments at fair value and, therefore, are excluded from cash and cash equivalents
in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Investments and Investment Income (Loss) ,
Investments in. equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds, governmental
securities, debt securities, and pooled/commingled funds are reported-at fair value with. changes in
fair value included in the deficiency of revenues over expenses. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
parhcnpants at the measurement date (Note 7).

Investments in pooled/commingled investment. funds, private equity funds, and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accountlng with changes in
value recorded in the deficiancy of revenue over expenses.

Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System’s board-designated and assets with ‘donor restrictions, such as endowment
funds, were invested in these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the market value of the
pooled funds at'the end of the month prior to receipt of any new additions to.the funds. Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains. and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses (including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in

" the deficiency of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and Iosses unless
the income or loss is restricted by donor ar law (Note 9),

Fair Value Measu rement of Financial Instruments
The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilties (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The thrée levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below:
Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

11



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2023 and 2022

Level 2 Prices other than guoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement, .

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The carrying amounts of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

Property, plant, and equipment

Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System’s policy is to.
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to ameortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
leasehold improvements, Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
peried of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the deficiency of revenue over expenses, unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the
donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify how the
assets dre to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital assets
are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those capital
assets must be maintained, expirations of denor restrictions are reported when the donated or
acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs .

Bond issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-term debt, are

amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amcrtization is recorded within interest expense in
- the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method

which approximates the effective interest method.
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Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The Health System records within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets goodwill and
intangible assets such as trade names and leases-in-place. The Health System considers trade
names and goodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for impairment or
more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$8,367,000 and $8,885,000 as intangible assets as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains.
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2020, January 2021, and April 2022, the FASB issued standard updates on Reference
Rate Reform in response to the planned discontinuation -of the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate
(LIBOR), a key interbank reference rate. The standard provides accounting relief to contract
modifications and optional expedients for applying U.S. GAAP to contracts and other transactions
that reference LIBOR or other reference rates that are expected to be discontinued because of rate
reform. The Health System is currently in the process of evaluating the impact of adoption of these
standards on the financial statements.

3. The COVID-19 Pandemic

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization designated COVID-19 as a global pandemic
resulting in an extraordinary disruption to our nation’s healthcare system. In response to COVID-
19, the Coronavirus Aid Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act was enacted which provided
different types of economic support to a wide variety of organizations and individuals. The Health
System employed several CARES Act provisions, with the most significant impacts summarized
below.

Health and Human Services Provider Relief Funds

The Health System received $1,822,000 and $100,346,000 in CARES Act Provider Relief Funds
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

In July 2020, HHS issued reporting requirements for CARES Act Provider Relief Funds, requiring
recipients to identify healthcare-related expenses that remain unreimbursed by another source,
attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic. If those expenses do not exceed the funding received,
recipients will need to demonstrate that the remaining funds were used to compensate for a
negative variance in patient service revenue. HHS is entitied to recoup Provider Relief Funds
awarded in excess of expenses attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic that were not reimbursed
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by another source plus losses incurred due to the decline in patient care revenue. There have been
no recoupments through June 30, 2023. .

Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Accelerated and Advance Payment Program

The Health System received CMS prepayment advances, related to the CARES Act, totaling
$245,200,000. In addition, the Health System accumulated payroll tax deferrals of $33,100,000,
Repayment of funds commenced. in April 2021, The batances of CMS prepayment advances and
accumulated payroll tax deferrals at Jl_m_é 30, 2022 were $54,890,000 and $16,550,000,
respectively, and are included in estimated third party settlements and accrued compensation and
related benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The amounts for CMS prepayment advances
and payroll tax deferrals were repaid, in full, during the year ended June 30, 2023

The Health System continues to address the challenges and impacts of the COVID-18 pandemic,
including protecting the health and safety of employees and. patients, as well as assessing the
availability of personal protective equipment and other needed supplies.to be better positioned for
" potential surges. Additionally, the Health System continues to evaluate the impact of new or
changes to laws and regulations at the federal, state, and local levels and the potential effect on
Health System staffing and operations. At this time, the Health System remains unable to
accurately predict the full extent to which the COVID-19. pandemic will affect the Health System’s
future finances and operations. . "

4, Net Patlent Serwce Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Health System reports net patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care, These amounts are due from
patients, third-party payers (including managed care payers and government programs), and
others; and they include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and
third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients.

The Health System determines pérformance obligations based on the nature of the services
provided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognizéd based on
actual charges incurred in relation to total expected charges as this. method provides a reasonable
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on inputs -
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatient acute care services. For inpatient services, performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the
patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
performance obligations are recognized at a point in time when the services are provided and no
further patient services are deemed necessary.

" Generally, the Health System’s patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied -
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or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. This generally refers to inpatient services
at the end of the reporting pericd. The performance obligations for these contracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period. '

Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System’s consoclidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets. ‘ '

Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge all patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions.,

Explicit Pricing Concessions

Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for-service Medicare and Medicaid
programs are based on prospectively determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
{allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

. Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the
prospective payment system {PPS) to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system (DRG), based on diagnostic, clinical, and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectively determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid on a prospecfive payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each outpatient pracedure {(APC), subject to various mandated medifications.
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hospital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports .
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System's
payments for inpatient services rendered to NH and VT Medicaid beneficiaries are based on
PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a retrospective cost 'basis, or fee
schedules, for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries are paid on a prospective basis
per outpatient procedure.

. Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by Critical Access Hospitals (CAH)
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care,

. Providers of home health services fo patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines.
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. Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with no retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

. The Health System's cost-based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year, based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined
after the submission of an annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,
regulations, and rule interpretations governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over time by material
amounts.

. Revenues under Managed Care Plans (MCPs) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for-service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject fo review and possible audit.
The MCPs are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient’s bill is subject to adjustments, in accordance with contractual terms in place with the
MCPs following their review and adjudication of each bill.

The Health System is not aware of any claims, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer, that
would materially affect its revenues, for which it has not adequately provided in the accompanying
Health System’s consolidated financial statements.

The Health Systemn provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System’'s policy is to treat amounts
qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and, as such, are not reported in net patient
service revenue.

Vermont impoées a provider tax on home health agencies in the amount of 4.25% of Vermont
annual net patient revenue. In fiscal years 2023 and 2022, home health provider taxes paid were
$579,000 and $627,000, respectively.

Implicit Price Concessions

Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsibie for related co-
pays, co-insurance, and deductibles, which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients, The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co-pays, ce-insurance, and deductibles, and for those who are uninsured, based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients
reduces the transaction price at the time of billing. The uninsured and patient responsible accounts,
net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based on
historical collection trends for similar accounts and other known factors that impact the estimation
process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally recorded as
adjustrments fo net patient services revenue in the period of change.,

The implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to collect based on
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coltection history with similar patients, Although outcomes vary, the Health System's policy is to
attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles due
from insurance at the time of service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited to, the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act
{EMTALA). Through varicus systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost repott is
yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected fo be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally must be filed within five months of the closing
period.

Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care using the most likely amount. These
seltlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payer,
correspondence from the payer, and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or investigations.

For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, additional increases in revenue of $24,098,000 and
$19,743,000, respectively, were recognized, due to changes in estimates of implicit price
concessions for performance obligations satisfied in prior years. ‘

Net operating revenues consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients

covered by Medicare, Medicaid, managed care and other health plans, as well as patients covered
under the Health System's uninsured discount and charity care programs. .
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The table below shows the Health System’s sources of total operating revenue and other support
presented at the net transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022,

2023
{in thousands of dolfars) PPS CAH Total
Hospital
Medicare $ 587,377 $ 106,370 $ 693,747
Medicaid ‘ 168,410 18,824 187,234
Commercial 862,502 88,492 950,994
Self-pay 11,307 802 12,109
Subtotal ) 1,629,596 214,488 1,844,084
Professional 504,370 35,578 539,948
Subtotal _ 2,133,966 250,066 2,384,032
Home based care 13,125
Subtotal 2,397 157
Other revenue ’ 706,242
Provider Relief Funds ‘ 1,822
Total operating revenue and other support $ 3,105,221
2022
(in thousands of doflars) - PPS CAH Total
Hospital
Medicare $ 542,292 3 99,976 3 642,268
Medicaid ‘ 158,121 15,739 . 173,860
Commercial 809,736 . 81,395 891,131
Self-pay : 7,027 802 7,928
Subtotal ‘ 1,517,176 198,012 1,715,188
Professional ) 470,559 40,186 . 510,745 "
. Subtotal 1,987,735 238,195"3 2,225,933
Home based care ' . 17,304
Subtotal 2,243,237
Other revenue 528,762
Provider Relief Funds 98,829
Total aperating revenue and other support $ 2870828
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Medicaid Enhancement Tax & Disproportionate Share Hospital

On May 22, 2018, the State of New Hampshire and all New Hampshire hospitals (Hospitals)
agreed to resolve disputed issues and enter into a seven-year agreement to stabilize
Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) payments, with provisions for alternative payments in the
event of legislative changes to the DSH program. Under the agreement, the State committed to
make DSH payments to the Hospitals in an amount no less than 86% of the Medicaid
Enhancement Tax (MET) proceeds collected in each fiscal year, in addition to providing for directed
payments or increased rates for Hospitals in an amount equal to 5% of MET proceeds collected
from state fiscal year (SFY) 2021 through SFY 2024, The agreement prioritizes DSH payments to
critical access hospitals in an amount equal to 75% of allowable uncompensated care (UCC), with
the remainder distributed to Hospitals without critical access designation in proportion to their
allowable UCC amounts.

During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System received DSH payments of
approximately, $85,853,000 and $77,488,000, respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit
and, therefore, for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System recognized as
revenue DSH receipts of approximately $83,582,000 and approximately $75,988,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System recorded $85,715,000 and
$82,725,000, respectively, of State of NH MET and State of VT provider taxes, The taxes are
calculated at 5.4% for NH and 6.0% for VT of certain patient service revenues. The Provider taxes
are included in operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in
Net Assets. -

Accounts Receivable
The following tsble categorizes payors into four groups based on their respective percentages of
patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2023 and 2022;

2023 2022
Medicare 36% 38%
Medicaid 12% 12%
Commercial 41% 38%
Self Pay 11% 12%
Total 100% 100%
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5.

Investments

The composition of investments at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is set forth in the following table:

(in thousands of dolfars)

Assets limited as to use
Internally designated by board
Cash and short-term investments
U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities
Domestic equities
International equities
Emerging markets equities
Global equities
Real Estate Investment Trust
Private equity funds
Hedge funds

Subtotal

Investments held by captive insurance companies {Note 12)

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities

International equities

Subtotal

Held by trustee under indenture agreement (Note 10)
Cash and shorf-term investments

Total assets limited as to use

Other investments for restricted activities
Cash and short-term investments-
U.8. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

‘Domestic equities

International equities

Emerging markets equities

Global equities

Real Estate Investment Trust
Private equity funds

Hedge funds

Ofther

Total other investments for restricted activities
Total investments

20

2023 2022
$ 6988 $ 31130
80,595 126,222
271,321 234,490
37,092 68,610
205,200 198,742
75,199 63,634
37,080 34,636
77479 - 73,035
2 2
141,808 138,605
44,558 55,069
977,322 1,024,175
30,366 27,242
13,918 7,902
13,180 7,595
13,994 10,091
5,372 4,692
76,830 57,522
17,310 99,397
1,071,462 1,181,094
21,243 8,483
27,323 27,600
45,864 37,343
5,282 10,059
30,754 34,142
11,054 10,698
5,187 5,587
10,281 11,153
.18 19
18,816 21,166
6,368 8,852
34 34
182,224 175,116

$ 1253686 $ 1,356,210
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case-by-case basis. The fair value method is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in
pooledfcommingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pocled/commingled funds
make underlying investments in securities from the asset classes listed above.

The following tables summarize investments by the accounting method utilized as of June.30, 2023
and 2022. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those securities
accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7.

2023

{in thousands of dollars) Fair Value Equity Total
Cash and short-term investments $ 45541 § - - % 45,541
U.S, government securities 138,284 - 138,284
Domestic cbrporate debt securities 122,320 208,783 331,103
Global debt securities 55,5654 - 55,554
Domestic equities ‘ 204,541 45,407 249,948
International equities 57,221 34,404 91,625
Emerging markets equities 267 42,000 42 267
Global equities - 87,760 87,760
Real Estate Investment Trust 20 - 20
Private equity funds ' - 160,624 160,624
Hedge funds 456 50,470 50,926
Other 34 - 34

Total investments . $ 624238 § 629,448 3% 1,253,686

2022
- (in thousands of dolfars) Fair Value Equity Total

Cash and short-term investments 3 138,890 & - 5 138,990
U.S. government securities 181,064 - 181,064
Domestic corporate debt securities 118,642 161,093 279,735
Global debt securities 57,558 28,706 86,264
Domestic equities - 191,767 51,208 242 975
International equities 47,631 31,393 79,024
Emerging markets equities 298 39,926 40,224
Global equities . - 84,187 84,187
Real Estate Investment Trust . 21 - 21
Private equity funds ' - 159,771 159,771
Hedge funds 443 63,478 63,921
Other - 34 T 34

Total investments 3 736,448 3% 619,762 $ 1,356,210
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For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, investment income (loss} is reflected in the
accompanying. Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets. as other
operating revenue of approximately $905,000 and $857,000, respectively, and as non-operating
gains (losses) of approximately $58,119,000 and ($78,744,000), respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the fund has fully
distributed al! proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership agreements expire,
Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to contribute a specified
level of capital over a defined period of time, Through June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Health System
has outstanding commitments of $79,753,000 and $75,070,000, respectively.

6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment consists of the following at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

{in thousands of dolars) 2023 2022
Land $ 40,749 § 40,749
Construction in progress . 43,117 | 163,145
Land improvements - 52,054 44,834
Buildings and improvements 1,168,776 984,743
Equipment 1,101,410 1,042,582
Subtotal property, plant, and equipment 2,404,106 2,276,053
Less accumulated depreciation 7 1,592,484 A 511,213
Total property, plant, and equipment, net $ 811622 § 764,840

As of June 30, 2023, construction in progress primarily consists of four projects; the Family and
Community Care Clinic located in Keene, NH, the renovation of inpatient wings as part of the
Pavilion backfill project located in Lebanon, NH, and two lab software upgrades to the Lebanon
campus. The estimated cost to complete the construction in progress is approximately $10,700,000.

The construction in progress as of June 30, 2022, included the in-patient tower,. the emergency
department (ED) expansion and the central pharmacy/supply chain facility renovation. All were
placed in service during the year ended June 30, 2023.

Capitalized interest of $59,000 and $6,853,000 is included in construction in progress as of June 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively. '

Depreciation expense included in operating activities was $87,029,000 and $83,661,000 for 2023 and
2022, respectively. '
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7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liahilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis:

Cash and Short-Term Investments
Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the: financial
institution and cash which will be used for future investment opportunities,

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities
Cansists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities are traded (Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities

Consists of U.8. government securities, domestic cérporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are baséd
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of business in the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).
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Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest lavel of input that is significant to tHe
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2023 and 2022:

2023
(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets i
Investments .
Cash and shott term investments $ 45541 $- - % - $ 45,541
U.8. government securities 138,284 ° - - 138,284
Domestic corparate debt securities 41,351 80,989 - 122,320
Global debt securities . 24429 31,125 - 55,554
Domestic equities 200,252 . 4,289 - 204,541
International equities 57,221 - Co- . 57,221
Emerging market equities 267 . . -7 - _ 287
Real estate investment trust 20 .- - 20
Hedge funds ' 456 - - 456
Other - 34 - 34
Total fair value investments 507,821 116,417 - 624,238
Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments 11,893 - - . 11,893
U.S. government securities 40 - - 40
Domestic corporate debt securities 10,453 - 1 - 10,453
Global debt securities 16 - - 16
Domestic equities - 41,841 - - 41,841
International equities 5,874 - - 5,874
Emerging market equities ' 21 - ‘ - 21
Real estate ) 14 - - 14
Multi strategy fund 62,689 - - - 62,689
Total deferred compensation '
plan assets 132,841 - - - 132,841
Beneficial interest.in t[usts ’ - - 14,875 . 14,875

Total assets $ 640862 § 116417 $ 14,875 § 771,954
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(in thousands of doffars)

Assets
Investments

Cash and short term mvestments

U.S. government securities

Domestic corporate debt securities

Global debt securities
Domestic equities
International equities
Emerging market equities

" Real estate investment trust
Hedge funds
Other

Total fair value investments

Deferred compensation plan assets
Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities

Domestic corporate debt securities

Global debt securities
Domestic equities
International equities
Emerging market equities
Real estate

. Multi strategy fund

Total deferred compensation

plan assets
Beneficial interest in trusts
Total assets

2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
138,950 $ - 3 - § 138990
181,064 - - 181,064
1,768 116,874 - 118,642 -
24,745 32,813 - 57,558
187,063 4,704 - 191,767
47,631 - - 47,631
298 - - 298
21 - - 21
443, - - 443
- 34 - 34
582,023 154,425 - 736,448
8,053 - - 8,053
36 - - 36
10,874 . - - 10,874
964 - - 964
33,742 - - 33,742
4,911 - - 4911
18 - - 19
12 - - - 12
57,964 - - 57,964
116,575 - - 116,575
- - 16,051 16,051
698598 $ 154,425 § 16,051 $ 869,074

There were no transfers into or out of Level 1 2, or 3 measurements due to changes in valuatlon
methodologles during the years ended June 30 2023 and 2022,

There were no liquidations of Level 3 measurements during the years ended Jun,é 30, 2023 and

2022,

25



Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
_ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2023 and 2022

Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30, 2023 and
2022: '

(in thousands of doffars) _ 2023 ' 2022

Investments held in perpetuity $. 88926 $ 84117
Healthcare services 38,596 36,123
Research 28,176 27,477
Health education , 27,374 27,164
Charity care 12,486 12,155
Other 10,825 8,639
Purchase of equipment : - 3,950 3,828

" Total net assets with donor restrictions $ 210,333 3 199,503

Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-restricted
endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as endowments. Net
assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Trustees to
function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence. of donor-
imposed restrictions.

The Health System has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for denor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit .
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Heéalth System’s net assets with donor restrictions, which
are to be held in perpetuity, consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held in perpetuity, and (c)
accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund, if any.
Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund. '

Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function

as endowments, the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated

[investment return’ thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or

management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions, that are temporary in nature, either -
restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to endowment
and investment spending policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors, and any
retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are restricted by the
donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have been met, the
funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a

determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
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conditions; the possible effect of inflation and defiation; the expectedﬁ.:total return from income and
- the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to provide a
predictable stream.of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act,

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with mdwndual donor-restricted endowment
funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as-of
June 30, 2023 and 2022,

‘Endowment nat asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2023 and

2022:
2023
Without With
: Donor - Donor
(in thousands of dolfars) Restrictions _Restrictions Total
Donor-restricted endowment funds 3 - § 111843 § 111,843
Board-designated endowment funds 28,688 - 28,688
Total endowed net assets ~ $ 28688 § 111,843 § 140,531
2022
Without With
_ Donor Donor
(in thousands of doliars) - _Restrictions _Restrictions Total
Daonor-restricted endowment funds $ - 3 107,590 $ 107,590
Qoard-designated endowment funds 41,344 . - 41,344 -

Total endowed netassets $ 41,344 $ 107,590 $ 148,934
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Changes in endowment net assets for fhe years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:l

2023
Without With
Denor Donor
(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions  Restrictions Total
Beginning of year balances $ 41,344 $- 107,590 $ 148,934
Neét investment return 212 1,305 1,617
Contributions - 3,201 3,201
Transfers (12,743) 2,561 (10,182)
Release of appropriated funds (125) (2.8.1'4)7 _ {2,039)
End of year balances $ 28688 $ 111,843 § 140,531
End of year balénces - 111,843
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 13,954
Net assets with donor restrictions $ 125797
2022
Without With
Donor Donor
{in thousands of doffars) ~_Restrictions _Restrictions Total
Beginning of year balances $ 41,728 § 108213 § 149,941
Net investment return (1,065) (3,998) (5,063)
Contributions - - 12,980 12,950
Transfers” 795 (7,105) {6,310)
Release of appropriated funds (114) (2,470) {2,584)
End of year balances 8 41,344 % 107,590 § 148,934
End of year balances .. . 107,590
Beneficial interest.in perpetual trusts _ - 14,803
Net assets with donor restrictions o+ % 122483
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10. Long-Term Debt

A summary of obligated group debt at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023

Variable rate issues
New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds
Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual :
amounts, through August 2037 (1) $ 83,355

Fixed rate issues
New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Autharity Revenue Bonds

Series 2018B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2048 (1) 303,102
Series 20204, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2059 (2) 125,000
Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual -
amounts, through August 2040 (3) 122,435
Series 2017B, principal maturing in varying annual "
amounts, through August 2031 (3) 109,800
Series 2019A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2043 (4) 99,165
Series 2018C, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2030 (5) 22,860
Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (6) 21,715
Series 20148, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (7) 14,530
Series 20168, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2045 (8) 10,970
Series 2014A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (7) -

Note payable
Note payable to a financial institution due in monthly interest
only payments through May 2035 (9) 125,000

[l
(=]
N
L]

$ 83,395

303,102
125,000
122,435
109,800
99,165
23,950
22,605
14,530
10,970

4,810

125,000

Total obligated group debt $ 1,037,932

$ 1,044,722 °
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) _ 023 2022

Other

Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;

manthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%

through November 2046 b 2,343 5 2417
Note payable to a financial institution with entire

principal due June 2034; collateralized by land

and building, The note payable is interest free 232 247
Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free

monthly installments through December 2024;

coliateralized by associated equipment 32 55
Total nonobligated group debt 2,607 2,71 9

Total obligated group debt 1,037,932 © 1,044,722
Total long-term debt 1,040,539 1,047,441

Add: Original issue premium and discounts, net 80,112 83,249
Less: Current portion ‘ 15,236 r 6,596
Debt issuance costs, net . 6,453 6,806

Total long-term debt, net $ 1,0987,962 $ 1,117,288

Aggregate annual principal payments for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as

follows:
(in thousands of dollars) 2023
2024 $ 15,236
2025 19,363
2026 20,209
2027 20,915
2028 21,574
Thereafter 043,242
Total $ 1,040,539

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Debt

MHMH established the DHOG for the purpose of issuing bonds financed through NHHEFA or the
“Authority”. The members of the obligated group at June 30, 2023 consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC,
NLH, MAHHC, and APD. The members of the obligated group at June 30, 2022 consisted of D-HH,
MHMH, DHC, Cheshire, NLH, MAHHC, and APD. D-HH is designated as the obligated group
agent.
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Effective June 26, 2023, after approval from the D-HH Board of Trustees, Cheshire withdrew from
the DHOG. The Cheshire Series 2012 bonds and the related obligated group note securing the
Cheshire bonds, will remain outstanding and therefore constitute a continuing joint and several -
obligation of the DHOG,

Revenue bonds, issued by members of the DHOG, are administered through notes registered in
the name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The
Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
of the members of the DHOG (and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members’ gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt
Service Coverage Ratio (1.10x).

{1} Series 2018A and Series 2018B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 2018B, in February
2018. The Series 2018A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2037 and were
used primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2076A revenue bonds. The
Series 2018B revenus bonds mature in variable amounts through 2048, and were used
primarily to refund a portion of Series 2015A and Series 2016A revenue bonds, revolving line of
credit, Series 2012 bank loan, and the Series 2015A and Series 2016A swap terminations. The
interest on the Series 2018A revenue bonds is variable, with a current interest rate of 5.00%.
The interest on the Series 2018B revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.18%, and
matures in variable amounts through 2048,

{2} Series 2020A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2020A, in February 2020. The Series
2020A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2059 and the proceeds are being
used primarily to fund the construction of a 212,000 square foot inpatient pavilion in Lebanon,
NH, as well as various eguipment. The interest on the Series 2020A revenue bonds is fixed,
with an interest rate of 5.00%.

{3) Series 2017A and Series 20178 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 201 7B, in December
2017, The Series 2017A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2040 and were
used primarily to refund Series 2009 and Series 2010 revenue bonds. The Series 2017B
revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2031 and were used to refund Series
2012A and Series 2012B revenue bonds. The interest on the Series 2017A revenue bonds is
fixed, with an interest rate of 5.00%. The interest on the Series 2017B revenue bonds is fixed,
with an interest rate of 2.54%.

(4) Series 2019A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 20194, in October 2019. The Series
2019A revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2043 and were used primarily to
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(5)

fund the construction of a 91,000 square foot expansion of facilities in Manchester, NH, to
include an Ambulatory Surgical Center as well as various equipment. The interest on the
Series 2019A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

Series 2018C Revenue Bonds
The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018C, in August 2018. The Series 2018C

revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2030 and were used primarily to refinance
the Series 2010 revenue bonds, The interest on the Series is fixed, with an interest rate of

© 3.22%.

(6)

{7)

(8)

(9)

Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, in November 2012. The Series
2012 revenue bonds mature in variable amounts through 2039 and were used to refund 1998
and 2009 Series revenus bonds, finance the settlement cost of the interest rate swap, and
finance the purchase of certain equipment and renovations. The revenue bonds have fixed
interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% (a net interest cost of 3.86%).

Series 2014A and Series 2014B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A and Series 2014B, in August 2014.
The Series 2014A revenue bonds mature in 2022, The Series 20148 revenue bonds mature at
various dates through 2033. The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B revenue bonds
were used partially to refund the Series 2009 revenue bonds and to cover cost of issuance.
Interest on the 2014A revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.63%. Interest on the
Series 2014B revenue bonds is fixed, with an interest rate of 4.00%.

Series 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Serles 2018B, in July 2016, through a private
placement with a financial institution. The Series 2016B revenue bonds mature at various
dates through 2045 and were used to finance certain 2016 projects. The Series 2016B is fixed,
with an interest rate of 1.78%.

Note payable to financial institution
The DHOG issued a note payable to TD Bank in May 2020. Issued in response to the COVID-

19 pandemic, the proceeds from the note will be used to fund working capital, as needs require.
The note matures at various dates through 2035 and is fixed, with an interest rate of 2.56%.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2023 and 2022 is
$1,037,932,000 and $1,044,722,000, respectively.

The Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of $17,310,000 and $99,387,000 at June

30,

2023 and 2022, respectively, are classified as assets limited as fo use in the accompanying

Consclidated Balance Sheets {Note 5). In addition, debt service reserves of approximately $46,000
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11.

and $6,674,000 at June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, are classified as other current assets in
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The debt service reserves are mainly comprised
of escrowed construction funds at June 30, 2023 and 2022. '

For the years ‘ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 interest expense on the Health System's-long-term
debt is reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net
Assets as operating expense of approximately $34,515,000 and $32,113,000, respectively, and
other non-operating losses of $3,782,000 and $3,782,000, respectively, net of amounts capitalized.

Employee Benefits

Eligible employees of the Health System are covered under various defined bénefit and/or defined

contribution plans. In addition, certain members provide postretiremeht medical and life insurance
benefit plans to certain active and former employees who meet eligibility requirements. The
postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

The Health System's defined benefit plans have been froien and, therefore, there are no remaining
participants earning benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans.”

Defined Benefit Plans ‘ _

Net periodic pension expense included.in employee benefits expense, in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets, is comprised of the following components
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) ‘ 2023 2022
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation $ 45924 $ 36722
Expected return onplan assets {46,071) 65,%17)
Net loss amortization . 15,820 13,139
Total net periodic pension expense $ 15673 $ (16,056)

The following assumptions were used to determine net penodlc pension expense as of June 30,
2023 and 2022:

Discount rates ‘ . 4.40% - 5.10% 3.30%
Rate of increase in compensation : N/A N/A

Expected long-term rates ofreturnonplan assets ~ 4.40% - 7.25% 7.50%
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health System’s
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of dollars) 023 022
Change in benefit obligation ~
Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 938,886 $ 1,140,221
Interest cost o 45,924 38,722
Benefits paid (58,580) (54,864)
Actuarial loss (59,480) (183,193)
Benefit obligation, end of year 866,750 938,886
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 747,095 958,864
Actual return on plan assets 1,229 (169,405)
Benefits paid (58,580} (54,864)
Employer contributions - 12,500
' Fair value of plan assets, end of year 689,744 747,095
Funded status of the plans {177,008) (191,791}
Less: Current portion of liability for pension - -
Long-term portion of liability for pension {177,006) {191,791)
Liability for pension (177,008) $  (191,791)

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the liability for pension is included in the liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying Consclidated Balance Sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included in the change in net assets
without donor restrictions include $489,486,000 and $519,946,000 of net actuarial loss as of
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The amounts amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net periodic pension
expense in fiscal year 2023 for net actuarial losses was $15,820,000.

The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the accumulated benefit
obligation at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022
Discount rates 4.85-590% 4.40-510%
Rate of increase in compensation N/A N/A

The primary investment objective for the defined benéfit plans’ assets is to support the pension
liabilities of the pension plans for employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital
appreciation and by also using a Liability Driven Investing (“LDI") strategy to partially hedge the
impact fluctuating interest rates have on the value of the pension plan’s liabilities. As of June.30,
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2023, it is expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 70% of the interest rate risk
associated with pension liabilities. As of June 30, 2022, the expected LD! hedge was
approximately 70%. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the pension plans utilize
a diversified structure of asset classes. The asset classes are designed to achieve stated
performance objectives, measured on a total return basis which includes income plus realized and
unrealized gains and losses.

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various investménts
are as follows: ’ .

Range of
Target Target
. Allocations Allocations
Cash.and short-term investments 0-5% 3%
U.S. government securities : - 010 5
Domestic debt securities ) 20-58 42
Global debt securities £ 6-26 4
Domestic equities 5-35 17
International equities _ 5-15 7
Emerging market equities 313 ' 4
Global Equities . 0-10 6
Real estate investment trust funds 0-5 1
Private equity funds 0-5 0
Hedge funds 5-18 "

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as it deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.

The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as plan sponsors, oversee the design, structure, and
prudent professional management of the Health System’s pension plans’ assets, in accordance
with Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities, and authorities and more
specifically the following:

e Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges,

s Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

. Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

+«  Monitoring performance of the investment'managers, custodians and investment consultants.
The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans’ assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. [n addition, the estimation of fair value of investments in private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinable value is

made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient, The Health System's
pension plans own interests in both private equity and hedge funds rather than in securities
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underlying each fund and, therefore, the Health System generally considers such investments as
Level 3, even though the underlying securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily
marketable,

The following table sets forth the Health System's pension plans’ investments that were accounted
for at fair value as of June 30, 2023 and 2022;

2023
Redemption Days’
(in thousands of doflars) Level 1 Level2 Level 3 Total ar Liquidation Notice
Investments '
Cash and short-term investments  § - § 10867 % - § 10,667 Daily 1
U.S. government securities 22,919 - - 22919 Daily-Monthly 115
Domestic debt securities 96,004 250,864 - 346,968 Daily—Monthiy 1-15
Global debt securifies - - - - Daily—-Monthly 1-15
Domestic equities 89,391 26,849 - 116,240 Daily-Monthly 1-10
International equities 18,912 22,361 - 41,273 Daily-Monthty 1-11
Emerging market equities - 26,743 - 26,743 Daily-Monthly 1-17
Global equities - 52,461 - 52,461 Daily-Monthly =17
Private equity funds - - 13 13 See Note 5 See Note 5
Hedge funds - - 72,460 72460  Quarterly=Annual 60-96
) Total investments $ 227226 $390,045 § 72473  §689,744
2022

Redemption Days'
{in thousands of dolfars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liguidation Notice
Investments
Cash and short-term investments  $ - % 16,030 § - § 16,030 Daily 1
U.S. government securities 124,686 - - 124,686 Daily=Monthly 1-15
Domestic debt securities 17,530 226,107 - 243,637 Daily-Menthly 1-15
Global debt securities - 24,136 - 24,136 Daily—Menthly 1-15
Domestic equities 104,070 31,324 - 135,394 Daily-Monthly 1-10
International equities 15,558 20,406 ' - 35,964 Daily-Manthly 1-11
Emerging market equities - 25,487 - 25,487 Dally-Monthly 1-17
Global equities - 54,787 - 54,787 Daily-Monthly 117
Private equity funds - - 14 14 See Note § See Note 5
Hedge funds - - 86,960 86,960  Quarterly~Annual 60-96

Totalinvestments ~ $ 261,844 § 398277 § 86,974 S 747,095 -
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The following tables present additional information about the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022;

2023
' Private -

{in thousands of dollars) _ Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total
Beginning of year balances $ 86,960 § 14 $ 86,974
Sales - ~(13,013) - : {13,013)
Net unrealized losses - {(1,487) {1) (1,488)
End of year balances $ 72460 § 13§ 72473

2022
) . ' Private -
(in thousands of dollars) Hedge Funds - Equity Funds Total
Beginning of year balances . $§ 15512 § - 15 % 15,5627
Purchases - 81,400 - 81,400
Sales (2.152) - {2,152)
Net unrealized losses ' (7,800) 1) (7,801)

End of year balances $ 8690 $ 0 14 § 86,974

The total aggregate net unrealized (losses) gains included in the fair value of the Level 3
investments as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 were approximately ($12,443,000) and ($543,000),
respectively. Hedge funds totaling $13,013,000 and $2,152,000 were liquidated in 2023 and 2022,
respectively, .

There were no transfers into or out of Level 1, 2, or 3 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.
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The weighted average asset allocation, by asset category, for the Health System s pension plans is
as follows at June 30, 2023 and 2022:

2023 . 2022

Cash and short-term investments 7 3% 2%
U.S. government securities 5 17
Domestic debt securities 42 . 33
Global debt securities 4 3
Domestic equities 17 18
" International equities 7 5
Emerging market equities 4 3
Global eguities 6 7

Hedge funds 12 12 -

' Total 100 % 100 %

N———

* The expected long-term rate of return on plan: assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical returns on the types of assets held, and the current econoric
environment. Based on these factors, it is expected that the pen3|on assets will earn an average of
7.25% per annum, :

The Health System is expected to contnbute approximately $15,888,000 to the Plans in 2024
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dolfars)

2024 $ 122722
* 2025 | 56,784
2026 59,960
2027 __ 61,029
2028 61,971
2029 - 2033 313,803

The Cheshire Medical Center plan was terminated effective June 30, 2022, pending regulatory
approvals. Following regulatory approval, the plan sponsor intends to distribute assets and settle
plan obligations through a lump sum offering to active and terminated vested participants and a
group annuity contract will be purchased for any-participant that doesn't elect the lump sum, along
with all participants currently in pay status. The benefit obligation for the plan reflects anticipated
disbursement costs and a terminal cash contribution to fully fund benefits will be made at that time.
The obligations reflect the cost of providing the lump sums and group annuity, described above, as
well as administrative costs and a terminal confribution which will be necessary to fund all of the

. costs of terminating the plan. It is expected that the obligations will be settled by June 30, 2024 and
the plan termination liability will reflect economic conditions, lump sum election rates and annuity
pricing at that time. As a result, the final plan termination liability may be different from the amounts
shown in this report.
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Defined Contribution Plans

The Health System has employer-sponsored plans for certain of its members, under which the
employer makes contributions based on specified percentages of compensation and employee
deferral amounts. Total employer contributions' to- the plan of approximately $71,152,000 and
$64,946,000 in 2023 and 2022, respectively, are included in employee benefits expenses in the

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets.

Postretirement Medical and Life Insurance Benefits

The Health System has postretirement medical and life insurance benefit plans covering certain of
its active and former employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical and life insurance

benefits to certain retired employees who meet eligibility requirements. The plans are not funided.

Net pericdic postretirement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components

listed below for the years ended June 30; 2023 and _2022:

(in thousands of dollars) ' 2023 2022

Service cost $ 357 $ 456
[nterest cost - 1,956 1,394
Net [oss amortization _ 62 752

© Total $ 2375 0§ 2602

The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life insurance benefit
obligation-amounts recognized in the Health System s consolidated financial statements at June

30, 2023 and 2022:

(in thousands of doilars) - 023 2022
Change in benefit obligation _
Accumulated benefit cbligation, beginning of year $ 40315 $ 46,863
Service cost 357 458
_Interest cost ) 1,956 1,394
Benefits paid - (3,588) (3,401)
Actuarial loss ) ) {6,355) {4,964)
Employer contributions : . - (33)
Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year 32,685 40,315
Current portion of liability for postretirement :
medical and life benefits . $ (3385 $ (3,500
Long-term portion of liability for ‘
postretirement medical and life benefits (29,299) (36,815)
Funded status of the plans and liability for , '
postretirement medical and life benefits $ (32,685 $ (40,315)
- RN
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12.

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the liability for postretirement medical and life insurance benefits is
included in the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets. -

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic income for the postretirement medical and life insurance
benefit plans, included in the change in net assets without donor restriction's, are as foliows:

(in thousands of doflars) 2023 2022
Net actuarial {income) loss {1,870) 4,445
Total $ (1,970) $ 4445

The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as approprlate are
expected to be paid for the years ending June 30, 2023 and thereafter:

{in thousands of dolfars)

2024 $ 3,486
2025 3,424
2026 3,396
2027 3,387
2028 3,227
2029-2033 14,893

In determining the accumulated benefit obligation for the postretirement medical and fife insurance
plans, the Health System used a discount rates of 6.00 - 6.10% in 2023, and an assumed
healthcare cost trend rate of 6.50 - 7.00%, trending down to 5.00% in 2029 and thereafter.

Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

D-H, along with Dartmouth Ccllege, Cheshire, NLH, APD, MAHHC, and VNH are provided
professional and general liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance
Risk Retention Group, Inc. (RRG), a VT captive insurance company. RRG cedes the majority of
this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited {HAC), a captive insurance company domiciled in
Bermuda, and HAC cedes a portion of this risk to a variety of commercial reinsurers.. D-H has
majority ownership interest in both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to
the covered institutions, named insureds and their employees on a modified claims-made basis,
which means coverage is triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance
deposits are actuarially determined, based on asserted liability claims adjusted for futuré
development. The reserves for outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis.
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13.

14.

Selected financial data of HAC and RRG, taken from the latest available financial statements at
June 30, 2023 and 2022, are summarized as follows:

2023
HAC RRG Total
{in thousands of doflars)
Assels $ 93,777 $ 2,372 $ 96,149
Shareholders’ equity 13,620 50 13,670
2022
HAC RRG Total
{in thousands of dolfars)
Assets $ 79,831 5 2245 $ 82,076

Sharehclders’ equity 13,620 50 13,670

Commitments and Contingéhcies

Litigation '

The Health System ‘is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered normal to its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. It is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have
a material effect on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Line of Credit .

The Health System has .entered into a loan agreement with a financial institution, establishing
access to a revolving loan of up to $100,000,000. Interest is variable and determined using the
Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index or the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. The loan
agreement is due to expire October 3, 2024, The outstanding line of credit balance was.
$40,000,000 and $0 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Interest expense was
approximately $1,200,000 and $91,000, respectively, and is included in the Consclidated
Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets. '

Functional Expenses
Operating expenses are presented by functional classification in accordance with the overall

service missions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays all expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies

_and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable

and are allocated to the mission that best aligns to the fype of service provided. Medicaid
enhancement tax is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization is allocated based on square footage and
specific identification of equipment used by department.
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural baS|s are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2023;

2023
Program Management
(in thousands of dollars) - Services and General Fundraising - Total
Operating expenses : ’ ' ,
Salaries $1238158 § 183063 § 1,870  $ 1,423,091
Employee benefits . 293,359 38,778 ., 248 332,386
Medical supplies and medications - 722957 2517 6 725480
Purchased services and other 305,192 148,439 5,270 458,901
Medicaid enhancement tax T 85,715 - - 85715
Depreciation and amortization 45,702 44 707 48 90,457
Interest . 8,470 26,037 8 34,515
- Total operating. expenses $ 2609553 § 443541 $ 7.451 $ 3,150,545
Program Management
_ - Services and General  Fundraising Total
Non-operating expense _ :
Employee benefits $ 15606 § 2077 & 8 & 17,601

Total non-operating expense  $ 15606 § 2077 § 8 $ 17691
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2022: ‘

2022
Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraising Total
Operating expenses

Salaries $ 1129572 § 184533 §- 1,302  § 1315407
Employee benefits 281455 - 40,887 228 322,570
Medical supplies and medications 645,437 - 3,835 - 649,272
Purchased setvices and ather 255,639 142,241 5,982 403,862
Medicaid enhancement tax 82,725 - - 82,725
Depreciation and amartization 42227 44 675 56 86,958
Interest 8,116 22,987 10 32,113

. Total operating expenses $ 2446171 $ 439158 % 7578 % 2,892 907

Program Management :
Services and General Fundraising Total
Non-operating income
Employee benefits $ 12144 % 1,785 & 11 $ 13,910
Total non-cperatingincome  § 12,144  § 1,755  § 11 § 13910
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15.

16.

Liquidity

The Health System is substantially supported by cash generated from operations. In addition, the
Health System holds financial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets reported on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets may not be
available for general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.

The Health System’s financial assets available at June 30, 2023 and 2022 to meet cash needs for
general expenditures within one year of June 30, 2023 and 2022, are as follows:

{in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents 3 115,896 % 191,929
Patient accounts receivable 289,787 251,250
Assets limited as to use 1,071,462 1,181,094
Other investments for restricted activities 182,224 175,116
Total financial assets $ 1659469 & - 1,799,389

Less: Those unavailable for general expenditure
within one year: .

Investments held by captive insurance companies . 76,830 57,522
Investments for restricted activities 182,224 175,116
Bond proceeds held for capital projects . 17,310 99,397
Other investments with liquidity horizons

greater than one year ' 141,810 159,792

Total financial assets available withinoneyear $  1,241295 § 1,307,562

The Health System used cash flow from operations of approximately $(164,033,000) "and
$(123,525,000} for the years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, respectively. In addition, the
Health Systemn’s liquidity management plan includes investing excess daily cash in intermediate or
long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. The Health System has an available
line of credit of up to $100,000,000 which it can draw upon as needed to meet its liquidity needs.
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit.

Lease Commitments

D-HH determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. Right-of-use
assets represent our right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and our lease liabilities
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. Right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date, based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. The Health System uses the implicit rate noted within the contract. If
not readily available, the Health System uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is
derived using a collateralized borrowing rate, for the same currency and term, as the associated
lease. A right-of-use asset and lease liability is not recognized for leases with an initial term of 12
menths or less, rather the Health System recognizes lease expense for these leases on a straight-
line basis, over the lease term, within lease and rental expense. ‘
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Operating leases are primarily for real estate, including certain acute care facilities, off-campus
outpatient facilities, medical office buildings, and corporate and other administrative offices. Real
estate lease agreements typically have initial terms of 3 to 8 years. These real estate leases may
include one ar mare options to renew, with renewals that can extend the lease term from 2 to §
years. The exercise of lease renewal options is at the Health System’s sole discretion. When
determining the lease term, management includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it
is reasanably certain that the Health System will exercise that option.

Certain lease agreements for real estate include payments based on actual common area
maintenance expenses andfor rental payments adjusted periodically for inflation. These variable
lease payments are recognized in cther occupancy costs in the Consclidated Statements of
Operations and Changes in Net Assets, but are not included in the right-of-use asset or liability
balances in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Lease agreements do not contain any material.
residual value guarantees, restrictions, or covenants. .

The components of lease expense for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2023 2022
Operating lease cost $ ‘9.590 $ 9,573
Variable and short term lease cost (a) 10,608 10,894
Total lease and rental expense $ 20198 § 20,467
Finance [ease cost:

Depreciation of property under finance lease $ 3778 § 3,345

Interest on debt of property under finance lease 546 448
Total finance lease cost $ 4324 3 3,793

{a) Includes equipment, month-to-month and leases with a maturity of less than 12 months.

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022
are as follows: .

(in thousands of doflars) 2023 2022

Cash paid for amounts included in the measuremént
of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 10,067 $ 9,852
Operating cash flows from finance leases 548 448
Financing cash flows from finance leases 3,599 3,255

Total $ 14,212 b 13,655
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Sﬁpplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of Juhe 30, 2023 and 2022 are as
follows:
(in thousands of dolfars) _ 202 202
Operating Leases - -
Right-of-use assets - operating leases ‘ $ 59,258 $ 61,165
Accumulated amortization : (26,731) (21,222)
Right-of-use assets - operating leases, net : 32,527 39,943
Current portion of right-of-use obligations ’ . 7,799 8,314
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 25,386 32,207
Total operating lease liabilities 33,185 40,521
Finance Leases . :
Right-of-use assets - finahce Ieases 32,837 27,963
Accumulated depreciation ' {9,836) ] (8,981)
Right-of-use assets - finance leases, net ] 23,001 . 18,982
Current portion of right-of-use obligations 3,535 3,005
Long-term right-of-use obligations, excluding current portion 20,285 16,617

Total finance lease liabilities ' $ 23,820 $. 19,622

Weighted Average remaining lease term, years ‘ -
Operating leases’ 7.54 7.73

Finance leases 1573 . 19.77
Weighted Average discount rate ' _
Operating leases 2.36% ) 2.24%

Finance leases ‘ 3.46% : 217%

The System obtained $3.6 million and $9.2 million of new and modifi ed operattng and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2023,

The System obtained $8.9 million and $0.1 million of new and: modified operating and financing
leases, respectively, during the year ended June 30, 2022.
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17.

Future maturities of lease liabilities as of June 30, 2023 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) Operating Leases  Finance Leases
Year ending June 30: "

2024 . $ 8,474 $ - 4,265
2025 5,841 3,336
2026 - 4,311 2,869
2027 . 3,475 1,900 .
2028 : 2,784 1,701
Thereafter : 11,340 15,043
Total lease payments 36,225 29,114
Less: Imputed interest: 3,040 5,294
Total lease obligations - $ 33185 § 23,820

Subseqguent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 17, 2023,
the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there

were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or

Hisclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statéments other than as noted below.
On July 3, 2023, D-HH affiliated with Southern Vermont Health Care Corporation and its
subsidiaries (*SVHC"), including Southwestern Vermont Medical Center, Inc. ("SVMC™), a 99-bed
community hospital located in Bennington, Vermont. Integrating SVHC into the D-HH System gives
D-HH an inpatient presence in southwestern Vermont with reach into eastern New York state and
northwestern Massachuselts markets, ‘

In October 2023, the.Health System Issued a note payable in the amount of $100,000,000 to TD
Bank. The note matures at various dates through 2033, and is fixed, with an interest rate of -
6.17%. '
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bDartmouthe Alice Peck MNew London Mt Aécumey DH Dbligated  All Other Hon= Health
Hitcheock Dartmouth- Day Hospital Hospital and Group Qblig Group System
(i thousand's of doliers) Health Hiteheosk Metmprial Associatien Eliminations, Subtotal Affiates Elimipations ~ Consolidated
Asgets '
Current assety
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2375 § 202 % 40,750 § 32,082 11,462 § - 8 86871 $ 20125 5 - % 115996
Patient accounts receivable, net - 241,747 10,868 11,022 7,607 - 201,244 18,543 - 239,787
Prepaid expenses and other curranl assets 19,552 210,275 2374 2449 . 2,009 (38‘78_5)‘)_ 199.870 2619 {18,385 184,104
Total current assets 21,927 452,224 S3em2 45,553 21,078 (36,789) 557,985 50,207 {15,285) 589,887
Assets lmited as to use 136,937 532,885 13,089 17,950 25,786 - {16.760) 1.009,937 81,525 - 1,071,462
Notes receivable, refated party 343,946 14,308 588 . - - (844.777) 14,085 (568} (13,477 -
Other | for restricted activiti 5 126,671 2.632 3,206 7.208 : - 139,722 42,502 - 182224
Property, plani, and equipment, net - 624,394 27,724 44,547 15,260 - 712,925 98,597 . 811,622
Right-of-usa assats, nel 344 32,819 14,967 286 4897 - 53313 2215 - 55,628
Other assets 1243 168,736 13,798 6822 4,688 - 185787 (2,454) - 193,333
Total assets $ 1005102 S 2252047 § 126790 § 118,204 79917 § (898,326) § 2583734 $ 252,184 § (31,862) $ 2904056
Liabilities and Net Assets ‘ . ‘
Current liabilities
Current portion of lang-term debt $ 13,265 § - % a5 § 21 % "n s - 3 14222 % 1014 % - 3 15.235
Current portion of fight-a-use cbligations 204 9,136 758 49 422 - 10,570 764 - 11,334
Line of cradit 40,000 40,000 40,000
Current portion of liability for pansion and -
ather postretirement plan benefits - 3,386 - - - - 3,386 - - 3,388
Agcounts payable and accrued expenses 22,590 151473 5,300 3,975 8173 {53,548} 129,862 26,170 18,385) 146,747
Actrued compensation and related benefits - 19,718 3,549 3,192 4,491 - 130,850 8,817 - 137,467
Estimated third-party settlements - 28.560 12,588 18,245 - - 59,393 4967 - 64,350
Total current Fabilties 37,159 352,273 23,021 25,482 - 13,087 (53,549) 287,483 39432 {18,385} 418,530
HNotes payable, related party - 800,163 - 27,044 17,570 {B44,777) - 13,477 {13477} -
Lang-tarm debt, excluding current poriion 1,028,666 25,113 21,956 1 1105) . 1,675,541 23321 - 1,008,962
Right-of-use obfgations, excluding cyment pertion 140 24,333 14,788 243 4,635 - 44,137 1,534 - 458671
Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 59,947 22 253 283 - 90,805 | 544 - 91,349
Liability fer pension and other postretiremant -
plan benefits, excluding currant portion - 197,048 - - 368 - 197417 8,888 - 208,205
Other liabilities - 148,653 268 2,065 - - 150884 22834 - 173918
Total liabilities 1.065 965 1637431 60,451 55 0g8 35.848 (888,326 1,966 467 110,130 (31,852) 2034 735
Commitments and contingencies
Net assets
Net assets without danor restrictions {60,873) 476,652 63,708 58,347 35,455 - 573,290 85658 40 658988
Met assets with donor restriclions 10 137,863 2,631 4,759 Bd14 - 153,977 58 398 {40y ‘210,333
Total net assets (60,863) 614,516 66,338 63,106 44.069 - T27.257 142054 - séga21
Total liabiltias and net assets $ 1005302 $ 2252047 § 126,790 § 118,204 79917 3 (898,326) § 2683734 § 252,184  § (31,862) § . 2004056
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D-HH Health
and Other D-H and Cheshire and MAHHC and APD and VNH and System
(in thousands of dollars) Subsidiaries Subs(dlarles Subsfdiafes NLH Subsldiarles ~ Subsldiary Subsldiaries Ellminations Consolldated
Assets
Cument assets .
Cash and cash equivalents H 2375 § 1470 & 15911 ¢ a8z § 11691 § 50139 S 2328 5 - § 115,996
Patient accounts receivable, net - 241,747 17,253 11,022 7,799 10,868 1,098 - 289,787
Prepaid expenses and other curent assets 19552 210,708 1.504 2.449 1.992 2.284 789 (55.174) 184,104
Total cupent assels 21,927 453,925 34,668 45,553 21,482 63,201 4,215 {55,174) 589,887
Assets limited as to use 126,937 860,436 13,376 17,890 27,090 13,089 19,304 {16,760) 1,071 462
Notes receivable, refated party 845,846 14,308 - - - - - (858,264) -
Other Investments for rastricled activitios § 134,091 34,711 3,206 7,208 2911 91 - 182,224
Property, plant, and equipment, net - 627,070 72,289 44,647 17,593 44,435 5,688 - 811,622
Right-of-usa assats, net 344 32,819 2,145 286 4,898 14,967 &% - 55,528
Qther assets 1,843 168,902 7,130 €622 2.231 6505 - - 193,233
Totzl assets 3 1,005102 § 2291551 % 164,319 § 118,204 $ 80,503 & 145188 § 28,357 & (930,188) $§ 2,904,056
Llabifities and Net Assats ’
Cumrent liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt y 3 13365 § - 8 95 3 21§ 3% 5 825 § 4 5 - & 15,236
Current partion of right-of-use obligations 204 9,136 . T 49 423 759 28 - 11.334
Line of credit 40,000 40,000
Current portion of liabifity for pension and
uther postretirement plan benefits - 3,386 - - - - - - 3,386
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 23,590 152,515 22,816 3,975 8,312 5,980 1481 {71,834) -148,747
Accrued compensation and related benefits - 118,718 5,406 3,192 4,564 -3.907 680 - 137,467
Estimated third-party setlements - 28 560 4,928 18,245 - 12,588 39 - 54,360
Total curent liabilities 37,159 383,315 34,802 25,482 13,335 24,059 2,302 {71,934) 418,530
Netos payable, related party - 800,163 10,477 27,044 17,510 - 3,000 (858,254) i -
Long-temmn debt, excluding current portion 1,028,666 25,113 20,507 1 B89 21,807 2,269 - 1,098,962
Right-of-use cbligations, exsluding cument pertion 140 24,333 1,493 243 4,635 14,786 41 - 45,671
Insurance deposits and related liabilities - 89,847 500 253 283 322 44 - 91,348
Liability for pension and other pestret it
plan benefits, excluding current perien - 197,049 8,888 - 368 - . - - 206,305
Cther liabilifes - 148,553 1,800 2 065 - 21800 - - 173,918
Total liabilities 1,065,965 1638473 78,567 55098 36,28 82,884 7 556 (930,188) 2034735
c itments and contingencies - '
Net assels
Net assats without denor restrictions (60,873) 507,534 37,207 68,347 35,609 59,404 21,620 40 658,988
Net assets with denor restrictions 10 145,544 48,445 4,759 8,614 2,910 91 {40) 210,333
Total net assets (60,863! 653 078 85 752 63,106 44223 62,314 21,711 - 869321
Total liabilities and net assets $ 10051062 S5 2291531 § 164319 § 118204 3 20503 § 145198 $ . 29387 0§ {630,189) 5 2,904,058
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets

June 30, 2022

Darimouth- Cheshirs Alres Peck New London Mt Ascutnay DH Obligated  All Other Non- Heaith
Hitcheock Dartmouth. Medlea] Day Haspital Hospltal and Group Oblig Group System
{in thousands of doliars) Heajth Hifeheoek Center Memerial Association Haalth Center  Eliminations Subteta) Affiliates Efminatisng Censofidated
Assats
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalants $ 2056 § 65827 % 20165 § LT 28457 % n3zr s - 3§ 167258 § 24871 - % 191,829
Pasent accounts receivable, net - 206,400 18,106 9817 9,175 5360 - 245,858 2392 - 251250
Prepaid expenses and ofher current assets 23,561 161.262 19.580 3522 4457 1472 (1.018) 182.730 {11372 {2.275) 169,133
Total current assets 25617 434,489 57,831 §1,755 42084 18,159 (31,118} 598,846 15691 {2.225) 612312
Assetslimited asto vse 301,000 £58.919 12,668 14,660 16.005 25753 {98,848 1,130,174 50,820 . - 1,181,094
Notes receivable, related party 842,082 11,587 - 603 - - {853,609} 802 (803) - -
Other investments for resticted activities 430 118,082 15,422 27 3825 6,848 - 146 492 28624 - 175,116
Proparty, plant, and equipment, net - 565,084 63,067 24757 45973 15526 - 134387 30,453 - 764,840
Right-of-use asgets 1,362 35341 1,830 14,882 168 524 - £3.820 105 - 56,925
Other asse!s 581 145,516 1,187 114.391 68573 4983 - 174331 (2,168) - 172,163
Total assets . $ 1171202 5 2189948 8 153.022 3 122005 % 114738 § 76516 § {983,576} § 2843853 § 122822 (2.@ $ 2964450
LiabiTties and Nst Assats
Cument Jabliies -
Current pertion of fong-temm debt $ - 8 4810 ¢ BBS 0§ 80 3§ < I = 3 - % 6458 % 98 - 6.596
Curment portion of right-of-use obigations 559 8514 (5] 852 htr] 473 - 11,259 60 - 11318
Current partion of iabdty for pensian and .
olher pestretirement plan benefts - 3,500 - - - - - 3500 - - 3500
Accounts payabls and secrued expenses 147,626 100,110 16,507 4883 43843 8633 {129,957} 152,795 6,002 (2,225} 166,572
Accrued compensation and refated benelts - 169,134 6817 443 4507 4434 - 189,383 1,177 - 190,560
Estimated third-party setlements 3.002 68876 22.99% 17.488 21,885 647 - 134.8¢8 - - 134 898
Total cumant liabilities 161,187 355,004 47,977 28454 31431 14247 {125,567} 498,333 7337 (2,225) 503,445
Notes payable, related party - 805802 - - 27437 17,570 {853,609) - - - -
Leng-term debt, deuding current pertion 1,044,845 25,084 21,867 23,080 32 {110 - 1,114,778 2510 - 1,117,288
Right-of4sse obligations, excluding current portien 803 27,359 1,232 14,489 - 4,885 - 48,776 45 - 48,624
Insurance deposits and related liablities - 75,678 £23 373 40 250 - 18,325 . ) - 78,391
Liabilty fer pensien and othar pestretirement -
plan benefits, extluding current portion - 220,350 kAL - - 481 - 228,605 1 - 228 606
Ciher liabilties - 120,082 1,108 300 1,749 - - 132.250 24846 - . 154 096
Tota liablities 1,196,835 1,642,163 80,683 £6,686 61,050 37,323 {983.576) 2.101.070 31805 (2225) 2.1:30,650
Commitments and contingencies
Net assets
Net assets without donor restrictions (25,838) 418255 53846 54,530 48,974 31,078 - 580,905 83352 40 634297
Net assets with danar ik 5 129.524 18.763 729~ 4712 8115 - 161,678 37.665 {40} 139,503
Total net assets [25.633) 547.779 72438 55,319 53,686 39193 - 742783 91.017 - 833.800
Tota! iabiities and net assets § 1471202 § 2169948 & 153022 § 122,005 § 114736 $ 76516 §  {083.576) § 2843353 § 122,822 (2225 § 28564450
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2022

D-HH Health
and Other D-H and Cheshire and MAHHC and AFD and VNH and System
{in thousands of dollars} Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries NLH Subsidiaries Subsidiary Subsidiaries Eliminations Censolidatad
Assets
Curent assels
Cash and cash equivalents s 2058 S 68075 S 250 S 28457 3 1631 § 47894 § 1,306 R 191,929
Patient accounts receivable, net - 206,400 18,106 9,175 5.431 9,817 2321 - 251250
Prepaid expenses and other curent assets 23,561 161,508 8,266 4,452 1459 2678 483 (33,.344) 169,132
Tetal current assets 25617 . 435,863 58,602 42,094 18,561 60,389 4,110 (33,344) 612,312
Assets limited as to use 301,000 884,007 13,183 16,005 26,979 14,680 24,088 (98,848) 1,181,094
Notas receivable, related party 842,052 11,857 - - - - - {853,609) -
Other investments for restricted activitigs 490 125,614 37,124 3,925 6,848 1,034 % - 175,116
Property, pfant, and equipment, net - 587,739 85,385 45,972 16,947 42436 5,360 - 764,840
Right-of-use assets, net 1,362 35321 1,830 1866 5,248 14,892 106 - 58,925
Qther assets 681 145,699 8,316 6,573 2,526 7292 78 - 172,163
Total assets ] 1,171,202 § 2225820 § 185740 § 114,736 77,307 8 140,720 § 33,826 (965.801) $ 2,864,450
Liabilities and Net Assels
Current [iabiities
Current portion of long-term debt s ~ 8 4810 $ 865 § 23 3 2% % B § 72 - 8 6,596
Current portion of right-ef-use abligations 559 8,514 €89 172 472 852 61 - 11,3189
Curren! portion of [iability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits - 3,500 - - - - - - 3,500
A payabla and d exp 147,626 100,617 16,726 4,843 8811 5,451 4,840 (132,192) 156,572
Accryed compensation and related benefits - 169,184 6,817 4,507 4480 4,735 817 - 180,560
Estimated third-party setflements 3,002 68,876 22,969 21,886 647 17,488 - - 134,898
Tota| current liabilities 161,187 355,514 48,096 31,431 14,466 29,356 5,590 (132,492) 503,445
Nates payatle, related party - 808,602 - 27437 17,570 - - (853,600) . -
Long-term debt, excluding curent pertion 1,044,845 25,034 21,867 32 110 23,005 2,345 - 1,117,268
Right-cf-use cbligations, excluding eurrent pottian 803 27,358 1,233 - 4,885 14,499 45 - 45,824
Insurance deposits and related liabilties - 78,678 823 401 250 373 66 - 78,391
Liability for pansion and othar postretirement
plan benefits, excluding current portion - 220,350 7,774 - 482 - - - 22B,E0B
Other liabilities ' - 129 092 1,109 1,748 - 22,148 - - 154.096
Total liabilities 1,196,835 1,642 6876 80702 61,050 37,763 89379 5,048 (685 801) 2,130,650
Commitments and contingencies
Net assets
Net assets without donor restrictions {25,638) 447,013 56,674 48,974 31,231 50,208 25695 40 634.297
Net assets with doner restrictions 5 137.231 48.364 A712 8113 1.033 85 {40) 19¢4.503
Total net assets {25 633} £84.244 105,038 53,688 30,344 51,341 25750 = B33.600
Total liabilites and net assets S 1171262 S 2226920 $ 185740 & 114736 3§ 77.107 3 140.720 8 33.826 (985,801 5  2.964.450
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions

Year Ended June 30, 2023 :
Dartmouth- Alice Pack New Lendon Mt Ascutney DH Cbligated All Other Nen- Haalth
Hitcheock Partmouth= Day Hospita] Hospital and . "Group Oblig Group Systam
{in thousands of dollars) Health Ritsheock Momarial Assoclation  Health Conter  Eliminations Subtetal Atfifiates Eliminatisns Censolidatod
Opesating revenuo and other support
Patient service revenue H - § 1888079 § 89605 § 87.85% § 63606 § - 8 2438045 $ 253012 § - § 2397157
Caontracted revenue 3834 141,562 149 51 3857 {799) 148,454 336 (64444 84,346
Other operating revenue 36,756 578,965 4,264 6,485 2,134 {43,983) 584,621 31,811 {7.557) 608,875
Nelassets released from restrictions - 12.763 100 316 284 - 13463 1380 - 14.843
Total operating revenue and other suppost 40.590 2621.369 103,118 94,707 69,681 {44,782) 2,884,663 29253 {72,001} 3105221
Qporating expanses
Salaries = - 1,183,344 48,062 46,193 28,847 436 1,308,034 162,86 (47839 1,423,001
Employae benefits - 276,506 §,020 832§ 8218 1,697 303,822 38910 {8,245} 332,388
Medications and medical supplies - 650157 13,130 11,862 4379 - 679518 45,982 - 725,480
Purchased services and other 20277 366,903 15,821 11,834 21,278 {13,642 417471 85,694 (15.261) 450,90
Medicaid enhancement tax - 65805 4,426 3,366 22713 - T5.870 9,845 - 85,715
Depreciafion and amortization 1 68,566 3 4,715 231 - 79,025 11,432 - 90,457
Intezest M4 28101 805 1.064 479 (30,386) 33.257 1 544 @5}_ 34,515
Total operating expenses 53,472 2639.379 95,636 37410 *67.945 [46,845) 2,895,997 325280 7 1.7:21 3.150.545
Operating (lass) maigin §12,882) (18.010) T.482 1281 1,736 2.063 (12.314) {32.741) {269) (45.324)
Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment gains Josses), net 1313 48,094 . 884 1113 915 (252) 52,124 6,067 2 58,119
Other comporents ofnet periodic pension and post
retirement benefit income - (16.269) - - - {16,268} (42 - (17.69%)
Other (losses) inzome, net {10,643) 250 - 509 387 {1.811) {11,308} 2437 341 {8.530)
Total non-operating (fesses) gains, net (8270 32075 881 1,622 1,302 {2,063 24,547 7,082 269 31.898
{Deficiency} extess of revenue over expenses {22,152) 14,065 £383 B39 3,038 - 1223 {25,659) - {1 3426)
Not assets without donor restsjctions .
Net assets released fram resbictions for capital - 2,139 56 26 24 - 2454 778 - 3228
Change in funded status of pension and cther '
postretrement benefits - 322 - - 114 - 37438 (2.538) - 34,901
Met assets Tansferred % (from) affliates {13,083) 4831 03 428 992 - (6,079) 6,018 - -
Other changes in net assets - )] U - - - (13} - - 13
.(Decrease) increase in net assets without denor .
restrictions. $ {35235} % 58,398 3 9113 § 9373 § 4377 § L ] 46031 § (21340) § = 3 24,691
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consclidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions

Year Ended June 30, 2023

Dartmouth- . Hoalth
Hitcheock D<H and Choshlro and MAHHC and APDand VNH and System
(i thouisands of doflars) . Hoalth Subs(disrigs Subsldiaries HLH Subsidiarios Subsidiary Subslidiaries Eliminations Conscfidated
Qpsrating revenue and other sugpont )
Patient service tavenue s . « § 1888079 § 245887 8 87855 § 63,606 95605 § 13125 § - % 2397157
Coentracted revenue 3834 141,815 84 51 3,65 149 - {65,243) 84346
Qlher operating rovenue 36,756 581,102 15,548 6,485 3,974 14,641 1,909 {51,540) 608,875
Net assets released from restriclions - 13358 747 316 253 129 - - 14,843
Total operating revenue and other support 40,590 2624 554 262,268 94.707 71,529 113524 15,034 {116,783) 3105224
Oporating oxpensos
Salaries - 1,183,341 144,785 45,198 29,820 §3,203 13,007 {47,353) 1,423,081
Employee benefils - 276,506 33677 331 8435 10,602 2,095 {6,650) 332,386
Medications and medical supplies - 650,157 45,073 11,852 4,362 13,149 872 {5) 125420
Purchased services and other 20277 369,891 44,961 11,834 22074 19,195 4,471 {33,903) 458 801
Madicaid enhancement tax - 65,805 9,544 3,366 2,274 4,426 - - 85715
Depreciation and amortization 1 68,566 8,945 4,775 2425 5,203 542 - 90,457
Interest 33.194 28,101 1,031 1,064 480 1,115 prir)] {30671) 34,515
Total eperating expenses 53472 2 542 467 283,316 87.410 £9.890 106,294 21278 {118,582 3,150,545
QOperating (loss) margin (12.882) (18.113) {26,050) 7,297 1.83% 7,230 - (6,.244) 1,799 [45324)
Nen-operating gains {lossos)
Investment gains (sses), net 1373 50,245 2389 1,113 997 111 1,220 (329) 58,119
Other components of net periodic pensicn and post
retirement benefitincarne - {16,269) {1,422) - - - - (17,691}
Other (lesses) income, net {10643} 250 2361 $09 403 - S0 {1,470} {8530}
Total non=cperating gains (fosses), net {9.270) 34,226 3328 1,622 1,400 1111 1.280 (1,799) 31,898
(Deficiency) axcess of revenus over expenses (22,162) 18,113 {22,122y 8919 303% 8341 (4,084} - (13,426}
Not assets without doner restrictions
Net assets released from restriclions for capital - 2,223 691 2% 2 56 - - 3229
Change in funded status of pension and other .
posiretirement benefits - 37322 (2,535 - 114 - - - 34,901
Net assats transferred lo (from) affilates {13,083} 4872 5,19¢ 428 992 703 839 - -
Other changes in net assets - (&) - - - 4) . - 13
{Decreasa} Intrease in net assets without donar
restrictiens $ (35235 3§ 60521 § {19.367} $ 8373 § 4378 9005 § {4075) % - § 24,691
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions

Year Ended June 30, 2022
Dartmouth. Chashira Alica Peck Newlendon Mt Ascutney DH Obligated All Other Non- Hezith
Riteheock Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospitaland Group Qtlig Group System
{in thousands of doflars} Heatth Hitcheock Canter Memarial Association  Hualth Center  Eliminations Subtotal Affiliates Efiminations Consolidated
Operating revenue and other suppart K
Patient senvice revenue § = b 1TH083 O 266§ 99403 5 TETHA 5 B9Md0 § - § 222593 % 7302 6 - 3§ 2243207
Contracted revenue 209 133928 165 2 2 35 {60,673} F-x) 44 [83) 71,656
Qther operating revenue 38,568 432459 PARES] 4,146 7,57 2784 {50,711 518475 16,731 {1,175) 534,04
Netassets released from restictons 24 13299 biil 435 190 X4 L= 15.154 738 - 15,334
Tetal operating revenue and other support 38.028 2390775 261,328 104.003 47493 65513 {111,284 2.835,859 3528 11.26%) 2,870,828
Oparating oxpenses
Salaries - 108180 135,083 43,268 40,219 28,960 (45,229) 1,283,900 0422 1,085 1,315,407
Employes banefits - 266,795 31,761 10,302 7,537 8240 {5,842) 3879 3514 i) 5
Medicaliens and medical supglies - 576,581 43,203 12,266 9,846 4127 - 648123 1,148 - 848,272
Purchased services and other 25638 3237 2723 15,951 13,068 17,383 (32,862) 384,274 11,308 1,819 203,852
Medicaid enhancementtay - 64,036 9458 3980 2834 2407 - 82725 - - 8,725
Depceciation and amorzation - 64643 8 3518 4819 2,359 - &N 2847 - 86,958
Infersst 32.53% 25,365 914 i1 1,073 493 (29.530) nia 386 - 32113
Tatal operating expenses 58,174 2408.394 271923 80,160 79,498 62.969 {113.463) 2863653 39,716 (463 2.692.807
Operating {loss) margin {19,148) {12618) (10,588) 13,845 7,997 1560 2178 {16,794 (4,487} {758) (2,079
Nonwcpetating gains {losses)
Investmentincome {losses), net (8.026) {58,973} (2.088) {795} {1,114 {1.555) 210 {2741 6.0 - {78,744)
Qthar components of nat periodic pension ard post
Tefilement benefitincome: - 11,902 208 - - - 13910 - - 13410
Qther (losses) income, net (35401 (1,641} (542) - 1 169 (1.969) {7.522) 86 788 {6.658)
Tatal non-eperating flasses) gains, nt {11.566} {148.712) (602) {735} (1.113} {1.386} (2.179) {66,353} (5,937} 748 (71492}
{Deflciency) excess of revenue over expenses (20,774 161,331) (11,200 13,05 6844 164 - {83,147) (10,424} jas71)
Net assets without donor restrictions
Net assets released from restrictions for capital - 678 52 - 460 23 - 1,623 150 151
Changz infunded sfatus of pension and other
postrefiramant benefts - {27,868} (4,456) . - 43 - (32,308) [0} (32.309)
Net assets ranslemred to (fiom) afffiaes 7,600 (19,385} 4056 2571 20% 75 - 2250 2257 - -
Other thangesin net assets - - - - {23) - (23 - . (23)
{Decrease) increase in net assets without donor
restrictions § (23114 § (107808 § (11578 § 15621 § 047 § 1240 % - 3§ (116,312} § (8018 § § {124,330}
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Denor Restrictions

Year Ended June 30, 2022

{in thousands of dolfars)

Oporating revenue and ather support
Patient service revenue

Contracted revenue

Qther gperating revenue

Met 2ssats released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses

Salaries

Employee benefits

Medications an¢ medical supplies
Purchased sarvices and ather
Medicaid enhancement tax
Depreciation and amartization
Interest

Total operating expenses
Qperating (loss) margin

Nen-operating fains {lesses)

Investmentincome {osses), net

Other eomponents of net periodic pension and post
refirement beneft income

Other (osses) income, net

Total nen-operating {losses) gains, net
(Deficiency) excess of revenue aver expenses

Rot assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital
Change in funded status of pension and other
pastretirement benefits

Net assets ransfemed to (from) affliates

Other changes in net assels

{Decrease} increase in net assets without donor

restrictions

DHH

Hoalth
and Othar D-Hand Choshire and MAHHC and ARD and YNH and Systom
Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries NLH Subsidiarios Subsidiary Subsidiariss Eliminations Consolidated

H - 5 4751093 s 236645 § 9754 § 59041 § 99,400 17,301 - 3 2243237
209 134,388 165 21 3521 21 - (60,659) 77,866

38,568 494,363 23,794 7527 4,370 14,567 2,708 (54,086} 534,031

249 13.873 821 180 204 543 9 - 15,894

. 3902 2.393.717 261,425 87492 67,136 114,559 L 20018 (112,545} 2,970,828
- 1,091,601 135,116 40219 29,728 47,352 15,534 (44,144 1315407

- 266,795 31,770 7537 8,361 11,169 2517 {5,579} 322,570
- 576,581 43,203 9,845 4,126 12,297 1123 4 649,272

25,638 315,589 42838 13,067 18,072 18915 4313 (34,670} 403,862

- 64,036 9,469 2,034 2406 3,980 - - 82,725

- 64,643 8,095 4,819 2483 5595 521 - 86,558

3253 25365 914 1073 45 1,204 58 (26,530) 32,113
58174 2406610 272,305 79495 85,670 100512 24,068 (113.927) 2,802,007
{19.148) (12.893) (10.880) 7597 1,466 14,047 {4.050) 1.382 (22,079}
(5,026} (61,039 2189 (1.114) (5,660 {1373 (3.155) 211} (78,744}

- 11,902 2008 - - - - 13,910

{3.540) {1,641} (542) 1 179 - 56 (1171} {6.658)
{11,566) (56.778} {697) {1,113} {1.484) (1.373) 3.099) 1.332) [71,492)
(30714 (63671} {11.577) 6,884 18 12,674 (7,149) - (83,571)

- 84 53 480 25 - - - 1,572

- (27,650 (4.495) - 47 - - - (32,309)

1600 (19,301) 4,108 2,086 795 251 2221 - -

- - - 23 - - - : 23

3 (23114 §  {110,088) § (11912 § 5417 § 1050 % 15,245 (4,928} - 8§ {124,330)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Note to Supplemental Consolidating Information
. JAune 30, 2023 and 2022

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consoclidating statement of operations and changes in net assets without donor
restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
between D-HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consclidating informatfon presented
is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
The consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and is not required as part of the basic financial statements.
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MARY HITCHCOCK MEMORIAL HOSPTIAL (MHMH)/

DARTMOUTH HITCHCOCK CLINIC (DHC) \ Cembined as DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK

BOARDS OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

Effective: January 1, 2024

DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK

M. Elyse Allan, MBA
Retired President and Chief Executive Officer of General
Electric Canada Company, Inc.

Geraldine “Polly” Bednash, PhD, RN,
FAAN Adjunct Professor, Australian Catholic
University

Laura M. Chiang, MD

Assistant Professor of Anesthesiology and Critical Care;
Vice Chair for Education, Dept. of Anesthesiology and Co-
Medical Director, Surgical Intensive Care Unit

Marcus P. Coe, MD, MS '
Associate Professor, Residency Director, Department of
Orthopaedic Surgery, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical
Center and Geisel School of Medicine

Duane A. Compton, PhD
Ex-Officio: Dean, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartnouth

Joanne M. Conroy, MD .
Ex-Officio: CEO & President, Dartmouth-
Hitchcock/Dartmouth Health

Gary V. Desir, MD

Yale School of Medicine: Paul B. Beeson Professor of
Medicine; Chair, Internal Medicine at Yale School of
Medicine and Yale New Haven Hospital; Vice Provost
Jor Faculty Development and Diversity, Yale University
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Celestina “Tina” M. Dooley-Jones, PhD-
Retired Senior Foreign Service Officer

Nancy M. Dunbar, MD
Medical Director, Blood Bank
Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine

‘Roberta L. Hines, MD

MHMH/DHC Boards” Chair

Nicholas M. Greene Professor and Chair, Dept. of
Anesthesiology, Yale School of Medicine

Keith J. Loud, MD ~ beginning in March 2024
Chair, Department of Pediatrics and Adolescent
Medicine

Jennifer L. Moyer, MBA
Managing Director & CAO, White Mountains Insurance
Group, Ltd :

_Sherri C. Oberg, MBA
CEO and Co-Founder of Particles for Humanity, PBC

David P. Paul, MBA
MHMH/DHC Boards’ Secretary & Treasurer
Retired President & COOQO, JBG SMITH

Mark 5. Speers, MBA
Co-founder & Senior Advisor, Health Advances, LLC
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Jonathan B, Thyng, MD
Medical Director, Dartmouth Hitchcock Clinics Nashua

DARTMOUTH HEALTH

Mark W, Begor, MBA Chief
Executive Officer, Equifax

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
Ex-Officio: CEO & President, Dartmouth-
Hitcheock/Dartmouth Health

Thomas P. Glynn, PhD
| Adjunct Lecturer, Harvard Kennedy School of Government

Charles G, Plimpton, MBA
Dartmouth Health Board Treasurer & Secretary
Retired Investment Banker

Richard J. Powell, MD
Section Chief, Vascular Surgery; Professor of Surgery and
|. Radiology

Thomas Raffio, MBA, FLMI President
& CEQ, Northenst Delta Dental.

Edward Howe Stansfield, ITII, MA

Dartmouth Health Board Chair

Retired Senior Financial Advisor, Resident Director, of
Bank of America/Merrill Lynch
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Paul A.Taheri, MD, MBA .
Clinical Partner - Welsh Carson Anderson and Stowe

Pamela Austin Thompson, MS, RN, CENP, FAAN
Chief executive officer emeritus of the American
Organization of Nurse Executives (AONE)

Exec/Governance Oversight:
Kimberley A. Gibbs (603/650-8779)

Director, Executive Administration and Exec/Governance
One Medical Center Drive, Lebanon, NH 03756

kimberley.a.gibbs@hitchcock.org

Administrative Support:
Claire M. Lillie (603/650-5244)
Exec. Coordinator for Exec/Governance & Leadership

claire.m.lillie@hitcheock.org

Laura K. Rondeau (603/650-5706)
Exec. Coordinator for Exec/Governance & Leadership
laura k.rondeau@hitchcock.org
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 2CB3CODD-6E2A-46B0-A7C3-920722D8F6FC

ARUN KRISHNAN MD
y I

| |
EDUCATION:

Brookdale Hospital and Medical Center

* Child and Adolescent Psychiatry Fellowship Jul 2014- Jun 2016

Brookdale Hospital and Medical Center

* Residency in Adult Psychiatry (categorical) Jul 2011- Jun 2014

Medical College Thiruvananthapuram, India

MBBS (Bachelor of Medicine & Bachelor of Surgery) - Sep 2000- 2006
PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE:

_Child And Adolescent Psychiatrist (Dec 2018 —present )

Sunnu Youth Service Center/ Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center
1056 N. River Road, Manchester, NH 03104

Psychiatrist (Aug 2018- present)
Counseling Center of New England
15 trafalgar Sq, Suite 202, Nashua, NH 03063

Psychiatrist (Jul 2016- present )
Elliot Hospital
1 Elliot way, Manchester, NH 03103

Child Psychiatry Fell;)wship Training (Jul 2014 — Jun 2016)
Brookdale UHospital and Medical Center, Brooklyn, NY

Adult Psychiatry Residency Training (Jul 2011 - Jun 2014)
Brookdale Hospital and Medical Center, Brooklyn, NY

VOLUNTEER ACTIVITIES

Research: Voluntary research assistant _ (Apr 2009- Sep 2010)
Geriatric Psychiatry fellowship program, SUNY Downstate Medical Center, Brooklyn, NY

» Data collection and interviewing patient’s with memory problems and their family.
» Assisted fellows in making posters and in research.

PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS
. AMA 2019-present
. - APA 2011- 2021
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ACTIVITIES:

CERTIFICATI

ON:

Chief resident for Adult Psychiatry resident July 2013- June 2014,

Member of House Staff safety council in Brookdale hospital

Received scholarship to attended Telluride Patient Safety Summer Camp in July 2015.
Presented poster “ Working together to-create change:- House staff safety council that create
change “ as a part of House Staff safety Council at GNYHA Conference Center NY during
Symposium on Engaging Residents in Health Care Transformationin January 2016.
Presented poster in Brookdale health week in October, 2015 on “Patient Safety Event
Reporting in Child & Adolescent Psychiatry™.

Delegate for CIR (Committee for Interns and Residents), advocated in using patient care fund
for audio video equipment, attending national CIR conference during training.

Coordinator for QI project aimed at increasing patient compliance to medication by
discussing about sexual side effect of medication,

Attending hospital resident’s forum, GME meeting and Departmental meeting and advocated
for residents and patient’s safety.

Attended various GMEC meeting and open residents forum in Brookdale Hospital.

Actively involved in CLER visit in 2013 and 2015 and represented residents.

Board certified in Adult Psychiatry 2015- present
Board certified in Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 2016- present
Medical License in Connecticut medical board 2015 -2017
DEA 2016 - iaresent
Medical License in New Hampshire medical board 2016 - present

Medical License in Massacheussetts . 2017 - present
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Samantha L. Morin, Ph. D

Curriculum Vitae
|

EDUCATION/LICENSES

03/06/20
08/15/19

08/11 to 08/17

08/07 to 05/09

08/03 to 05/07

Licensed by the NH Board of Registration of Psychologists
NH Psychologist License Number: 1483

Licensed by the MA Board of Registration of Psychologists
MA Psychologist License Number: 11130

Doctor of Philosophy, Fordham University
Major: Clinical Psychology (APA-Accredited Program)
Concentration: Forensic Psychology

Dissertation: Determining treatment needs and recidivism risk of juveniles with sexual
offense adjudications,

" Advisor: Keith Cruise, Ph.D., MLL.S.

Master of Arts, Roger Williams University
Major: Forensic Psychology (APA-Accredited Program)

. Thesis: Understanding perceptions of hypnotlcally-recovered memories in a civil

sexual abuse case.
Advisor: Judith Platania, Ph.D.

Bachelor of Arts, Saint Anselm College
Major: Psychology; Minor/Certificate: Forensics
Honors Thests: Critical incident stress debriefing (CISD): A comparison of law

cnforcernenp’arson professionals and college students seeking careers in arson/ law
enforcement. ‘

Advisor: Paul Finn, Ph.D.,

CLINCAL EXPERIENCE

03/20 to present

Licensed Clinical Psychologist/Supervisor of Clinical Services

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center, Department of Psychiatry; Contracted position

at Sununu Youth Services Center (SYSC), Manchester, NH

Dartmouth Supervisor: William Torrey, MD; SYSC Director of Operatzons Rhonda

Chasse, MPA

Experiences:

¢ Contracted by Dartmouth Hitchcock Depaﬁ:nent of Psychlatry as the facility
psychologist and supervisor of clinical services at SYSC, the sole juvenile secure
treatment facility in the state of NH. Member of the SYSC Leadership team
alongside the Director of Operations, Administrator 1I, and Residential Supervisor
VL :

e Provide clinical supervision and treatment planning oversight to the clinical

- services team, including three to four Masters-level clinicians. This includes:

weekly supervision with each clinician, biweekly clinical team meetings,
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09/19 to present

09/18 to 03/20

Ccv2

assignment of cases to clinicians, review of all clinical documentation (DAP notes,
psychosocial assessments, treatment plans, court and parole reports,
coaching/safety plans, assessments, etc.), and participation in all treatment plan
meetings.

* Provide clinical consultation regarding youth placed at the facility to clinical
services team, as well as other facility departments (e.g., medical, school,
residential services staff, supemsors), including twice weekly case review
meetings open to all staff.

¢ Responsible for evaluating current treatment programming (groups, milieu,
individual and family therapy, assessments, etc.), as well as the development and
implementation of facility-wide evidence-based treatment programming.

* [ ead a multidisciplinary team of staff in the development of revised, evidence-
based behavioral management programming for the facility including the
development and implementation of positive behavioral interventions and supports
(PBIS).

¢ Participate in parole hearings and court hearings, as neededfrequested
Oversee research initiatives within the facility.

Active partlc1pant on several juvenile justice workgroups for the State of NH aimed
‘at improving juvenile justice policies and procedures, as well as promoting posmve
youth development models in the state.

Population Served:

o Diverse population of justice-involved male and female adolescents, ages 13 to 17,
detained or committed by the court. Many of the youth present with significant
trauma and/or mental health and substance use difficulties.

Forensic Evaluator (per diem)

Office of the Forensic Examiner, Concord, NH

Supervisor: Shannon Bader, PhD, ABPP

Experiences:

» Conduct court-ordered evaluations of competence to stand trial.

¢  Write comprehensive reports for the court addressing competence to stand trial.

¢ Provide testimony as requested.

» Participate in weekly team meetings/peer consultation.

Population Served:

e Diverse population of male and female adult defendants, aged 18 and older,
referred for a court-ordered evaluation in the state of NH.

Psychologist Ii, Adolescent Continuing Care Unit (ACCU) E2 -

University of Massachusetts (UMass) Medical School/Worcester Recovery Center and

Hospital (WRCH), Worcester, MA

Program Director: Brian Denietolis, PsyD

Experiences:

¢ Conducted trauma-informed and developmentally appropriate individual and
family psychotherapy with adolescents on the unit and their families.

» Managed and conducted initial psychology intake assessments (e.g., psychological
diagnostic evaluation, trauma assessment, substance use assessment, specialized
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08/17 to 08/18
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risk assessment form) with each youth admitted to the unit within first 10 days of
admission.

* Managed and conducted risk assessments for youth meeting hospital thresholds
(e.g., suicide risk, violence risk, fire-setting risk, elopement risk, problem sexual

+ behavior risk) including record review, youth interview, collateral contact, and
composing risk assessment reports.

* Managed, conducted, and supervised psychological testing evaluations for youth
indicated by clinical team as in need of evaluation; evaluations typically included
self-report and evaluator-administered measures of intelligence, cognition,
achievement, and personality. Completed comprehensive evaluation reports
including diagnostic information and detailed recommendations were provided to
teamn.

¢ Provided weekly clinical and testing supervision to psychology graduate student
trainees completing practicum at WRCH. Worked collaboratively on cases with
trainees. Supervised trainees in conducting and writing initial intake assessments
risk assessments, and psychological evaluation reports.

»  Worked collaboratively with other treatment providers including psychiatrists,
social workers, psychology trainees and interns, medical students, nurses,
occupational and recreational therapists, and mental health counselors for optimal
treatment planning.

¢ Attended and participated in daily unit rounds, weekly unit treatment team
meetings, and weekly psychology department meetings.

Population Served:

¢ Diverse population of male and female adolescents, ages 13 to 18, with significant
trauma and/or persistent mental illness. Four beds are allocated to youth admitted
from the courts for forensic evaluations.

»

Clinical Psychology Postdoctoral Fellow, Adolescent Risk Assessment/Safety Net
Cambridge Health Alliance (CHA)/Harvard Medical School (HMS), Cambridge, MA
Training Director: Marla Eby, Ph.D.

Primary Supervisor: James Barrett, Ph.D.

- Secondary Supervisors: David Stewart, Ph.D.; Dan Sanford, Psy.D.; William Pollack,

PhD.
Safety Net Program Experiences:

-&  Attended Safety Net collaborative meetings twice per month with professionals and

representatives from the Cambridge Police Department, Cambridge Public
Schools, CHA, and Department of Human Services-Youth Programs.

e Provided outpatient psychological services (e.g., intake evaluation, individual
psychotherapy, referrals) to adolescents referred from the Safety Net program to-
CHA.

¢ Provided consultation to partners in the Safety Net collaborative on issues related to
adolescent mental health and treatment.

» Collaborated with other Safety Net partners on research projects investigating the
effectiveness of the diversion program.

Population Served: '

e Racially/ethnically diverse population of male and female adolescents participating
in pre-complaint police diversion program and presenting with several risk
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indicators (e.g., disruptive family life, mental illness, low school achievement,
negative peer relations). '

School-Based Assessment Experiences:

» Conducted safety, risk, and psychological assessments for the Cambridge Public
Schools.

- Consulted with school personnel regarding recommendatlons for students referred
for assessment.

Population Served:

» Racially/ethnically diverse population of male and female adolescents attending
school in the Cambridge Public School system and presenting with risk indicators
(e.g., externalizing behaviors, aggression, mental illness, school truancy, low
school achievement, negative peer relations) referred to the School-Based Services
program. '

CHA Child/Adolescent Outpatient Clinic Experiences:

o Conducted intake evaluations with adolescents referred to CHA or the Cambridge-
Rindge Latin School (CRLS) Teen Health Center for individual psychotherapy.

e Provided outpatient individual and family psychotherapy with adolescents and thelr
parent(s)/guardian(s) at CHA or CRLS.

Population Served:

» Racially/ethnically diverse population of male and female adolescents referred for
psychological services at CHA or CRLS and presenting with a range of mental
health difficulties (e.g., depression, substance use, anger anxiety, PTSD, efc.).

Juvenile Court Clinic Experiences:

o Conducted court-ordered évaluations with adolescents and their
parent(s)/guardian(s) including Child Requiring Assistance (CRA) petitions, and
shadowed Competency to Stand Trial (CST) evaluations, Criminal Responsibility
(CR) evaluations, and Section 35 (substance abuse) evaluatlons

Population Served:

¢ Racially/ethnically diverse population of male and female youthful offenders
referred for court-ordered evaluations at the Lowell Juvenile Court Clinic.

08/16to 08/17 Clinical Psychology Pre-Doctoral Intern, Forensic Track

UMass Medical School/WRCH, Worcester, MA

Training Director/Primary Supervisor: Jack Terry, Ph.D.

Secondary Supervisors: Andrea Dinsmore, PsyD.; Ashley Murray, Ph.D.; Phoebe

Moore, Ph.D.; Brian Dessureau, Ph.D.; Jeanna Spannring, Ph.D.; Brian Denietolis,

Psy.D.

Forensic Service (First Major Rotation, 09/16 to 03/17) Experiences:

o Assisted in conducting forensic evaluations under supervision of a Designated
Forensic Psychologist (DFP) including competency to stand trial, criminal
responsibility, risk assessment, and need for care and treatment.

e Completed written shadow reports for each forensic evaluation including record
review, interview data, testing (when indicated), mental status, clinical opinion of

- the legal question, and need for care and treatment.

» Conducted testing for court-ordered forensic evaluations including administration

and documentation of personality, symptom validity/malingering, and intellectual
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measures (e.g., PAJ, Structured Interview of Reported Symptoms, Validity
Indicator Profile, Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence- 2™ edition).

Population Served:

» - Racially/ethnically diverse population of male and female offenders with severe
mental illness (e.g., psychotic disorders, bipolar disorder, depression, substance
.abuse disorders) admitted to the forensic inpatient unit for court-ordered evaluation
and psychiatric stabilization.

Pediatric Anxiety Clinic (Minor Rotation, 12 months) Experiences:

¢ Conducted anxiety and obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD)-specific intake
evaluations utilizing structured interviewing procedures.

» Conducted empirically supported cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) for pediatric
anxiety and related disorders, using both fanuly and individual approaches.

Population Served:

* Diverse population of children and adolescents with anxiety, OCD, and related
disorders (e.g., generalized anxiety disorder, social anxiety, specific phobias) in a
subspecialty outpatient clinic.

Outpatient Neuropsychology (Minor Rotation, 12 months) Experiences:

¢ Conducted outpatient neuropsychological assessments with patients referred from
throughout UMass Memorial Center and outside clinics.

¢ Completed scoring, interpretation, and wntmg of reports for full
neuropsychological test batteries.

Population Served:

¢ Racially/ethnically diverse population of children, young adults, and adults with a
broad spectrum of neurological, medical, and psychiatric disorders.

Primary Care/Behavioral Medicine (Minor Rotation, 12 months) Experiences:

» Conducted consultation, rapid assessment, and behaviorally-oriented brief
psychotherapy to patients in a primary care medical setting,

.o Facilitated referrals to intemal and external providers (e.g., psychiatric evaluations,

long-term psychotherapy, group psychotherapy).

Population Served:

¢ Racially/ethnically diverse population of young adults and adults presenting at the
Primary Care clinic with various comorbid medical (e.g., chronic pain, insomnia,
hypertension) and mental health concerns (e.g., anxiety disorders, depression,
substance abuse, personality disorders).

Adolescent Inpatient (Second Major Rotation, 03/17 to 08/17) Experiences:

e Conducted trauma-informed and developmentally appropriate individual and
family psychotherapy with adolescents on the unit and their families.

e Enhanced and utilized skills in assessment and milieu management, including
‘differential diagnosis, risk management, and the child service delivery system.

e  Worked collaboratively with other treatment providers including psychiatrists,
social workers, nurses, occupational and recreational therapists, and mental health
counselors for optimal treatment planning.

Population Served:

e Diverse population of male and female adolescents, ages 13 to 18, with significant
trauma and/or persistent mental illness. Four beds are allocated to youth admitted
from the courts for forensic evaluations.
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09/14 to 08/15

08/14 to 06/15
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Clinical Psychology Extern, Day Treatment Program

New York City Children’s Center- Queens Campus, Bellerose, NY ,

Supervisors: Diana Miley, Psy.D. (treatment); Amy Daley, Ph.D. (assessment}

Experiences:

¢ Conducted individual, group, play, and family therapy (e.g., CBT, DBT, behavioral

modification) in a fully integrated clinical and educational program.

Conducted crisis interventions when indicated.

Completed comprehensive psychological assessments.

Managed treatment and discharge planning of cases. :

Participated in treatment team activities and attended grand rounds, diagnostic

conferences, case conferences, and training lectures. '

Population Served:

e Racially/ethnically diverse population of children and adolescents, ages 5 to 14,
with severe emotional and behavioral disorders (e.g., ADHD, ODD, Autism
Spectrum Disorder, DMDD, Bipolar disorder, Psychosis), and their
parents/guardians.

Clinical Psychology Extern, Psychological Assessment

Bronx Lebanon Hospital Center, Bronx, NY

Supervisors: Ali Khadivi, Ph.D. (adult) & Wen Gu, Ph.D. (child/adolescent)

Experiences:

¢ Conducted individual psychological assessments including record review, clinical
interview, and administration of psychological tests, and developed integrated
assessment reports for treatment teams.

-e  Gained experience with various psychological tests including cognitive (e.g.,

Montreal Cognitive Assessment), intellectual (e.g., WISC-IV, WAIS-IV),
personality (e.g., Rorschach, PAI), among others.

o Attended case conferences and grand rounds.

Populations Served:

s Diverse urban population of children, adolescents, and adults with severe
mental illness {e.g., depression, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, disruptive
mood dysregulation disorder) admitted to the inpatient psychiatric units.

¢ ' Racially/ethnically diverse population of adolescents and adults with severe mental
illness (e.g., bipolar disorder, schizophrenia) attending treatment in the outpatient
clinic.

Forensic Psychology Fellowship

Fordham University Law Clinic, New York, NY

Supervisor: Barry Rosenfeld, Ph.D., A.B.P.P.

Experiences:

¢ Conducted psychological assessments (e.g., risk assessment, diagnostic
clarification) and prepared reports for the legal team.

¢ Consulted with Fordham Law School Professors and Students on Criminal
and Federal Litigation cases involving a mental health component.

¢ Assisted in writing legal briefs involving mental health issues presented in a
given case.
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e Attended weekly Criminal Defense Clinic and Federal Litigation Clinic
seminars, as well as weekly rounds.

Population served: -

o Racially/ethnically diverse population of adult criminal defendants and
inmates with mental illness (e.g., mood disorders, PTSD, substance abuse
disorders).

Clinical Psychology Extern, Inpatient Assessment/Treatment

Bellevue Hospital Center, Forensic Track, New York, NY

Supervisors: Elizabeth Arias, Ph.D.; Melanie Farkas, Ph.D.; Marilyn Chen, Ph.D,

FExperiences:

¢ Conducted intake assessments, and group (e. 2., emotion regulation) and individual
psychotherapy (e.g., CBT for psychosis, psychodynamic, behavioral modification,
mindfulness, DBT skills) on the inpatient forensic unit. '

¢ Conducted comprehensive psychological assessments (e.g., psychodiagnostic, -
malingering measures, cognitive testing).

* Attended weekly didactic seminars/case conferences and presented one treatment
case.

Population Served:

o Diverse urban population of male offenders with severe mental illness (e.g.,
psychotic disorders, bipolar disorder, depression, substance abuse disorders)
admitted to the forensic inpatient unit for psychiatric stabilization.

Clinical Psychology Extern, Outpatient Psychotherapy

Hunter College Counseling Center, New York, NY

Supervisor: Ariella Soffer, Ph.D.

Lxperiences:

e Conducted brief individual psychodynamic psychotherapy.

Conducted comprehensive intake assessments and completed intake reports.

Conducted mental health screenings for students on campus.

Facilitated referrals and collaborated with community services.

Participated in weekly didactic seminars/case conferences and presented five

treatment cases.

Population Served:

¢ Racially/ethnically diverse population of college students including adolescents,
young adults, and adults presenting at the counseling center with various mental .
health concerns (e.g., anxiety disorders, depression, substance abuse, personality
disorders). ) .

Study Therapist

Project SHARP, New York, NY

Supervisors: Michelle Galietta, Ph.D. & Ban'y Rosenfeld, Ph.D., AB.P.P.

Experiences:

¢ Conducted CBT-based anger management intervention.

Population Served:

¢ Diverse urban population of male offenders referred for anger management by the
NYC courts and Department of Probation.
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CLINICAL SUPERVISION EXPERIENCE

09/18 to 03/20

11/16 to 05/17

08/14 to 05/15

Trainee Supervisor, Adolescent Continuing Care Unit, Worcester Recovery
Center and Hospital (WRCH) |

* Provided weekly clinical and testing supervision to psychology graduate
student trainees completing practicum at WRCH,

Trainee Supervisor: Department of Psychology, WRCH

» Provided weekly clinical supervision to third-year graduate student
completing externship at WRCH as part of the UMass Medical School/WRCH
Clinical Psychology Predoctoral Internship Program.

Peer Supervisor: Department of Psychology, Fordham University
» Provided weekly clinical supervision to second-year graduate student as part
of the Clinical Supervision and Consultation course (PSYC 8222/8223)

OTHER CLINICAL EXPERIENCE

08/08 to 05/09

08/07 to 08/08

Psychology Extern, Outpatient Psychotherapy

Arbour Counseling Services, Fall River, MA

Supervisors: Janine Gendreau, M.A. & Donald Whitworth, Ph.D.

Experiences:

» Conducted individual psychotherapy (e.g., supportive, CBT, psychodynamic) and
co-led group psychotherapy (e.g., DBT).

e Completed initial clinical evaluations.

¢ Developed and implemented individual treatment plans.

Population Served:

¢ Racially/ethnically diverse population of adolescents and adults with various
mental health concerns (e.g., depression, anxiety disorders, substance abuse,
relationship issues, anger management issues, eating disorders, bereavement)
attending psychotherapy at an outpatient community clinic.

Support Staff

L.LF.E. Inc., Bristol, RI

Experiences: _

o Provided therapeutic and emotional support and guidance with decision-making.

» Utilized behavioral management techniques.

¢  Assisted with daily living activities.

Population Served:

e Developmentally and physically disabled adults living in a residential group home.

RESEARCH EXPERIENCE

08/11 to 08/16

Research Assistant

Fordham University, Clinical Psychology Ph.D. Program

Project: Adolescent and Parent Perspectives on Teen Risk-Taking Behaviors: Exploring
Associations and Ethical Issues (Fordham University Undergraduate Research Grant)
Principal Investigators: Keith Cruise, Ph.D., M.L.S. & Georgia Gaveras, D.O.
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Experiences: .
* Conducted comprehensive assessments (e.g., Peer Contlict Scale, Inventory of
Callous-Unemotional Traits, BASC-2, FASM, UCLA PTSD Index, SASSI-A2,
MAY SI-2) with adolescents participating in an outpatient day treatment program

for youth with co-occurring mental health and substance abuse disorders, and their
parent/guardian.

- Project: Initial Validation of the Short-Term Assessment of Risk and Treatability

Present Adolescent Version (START-AV) (Fordham University Faculty Research

Grant) :

Principal Investigator: Keith Cruise, Ph.D., M.L.S.

Experiences:

» Conducted comprehensive structured interviews and assessments (e.g., START-AV,
MAYSI-2, SASSI-A2) with juvenile offenders on probation in Bridgeport, CT for
the purposed of validating the START- AV.

Research Assistant

Fordham University, Clinical Psychology Ph.D. Program, Bronx, NY

Project: Differentiating Real versus Feigned Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in a Sample
of West African Torture Survivors )

- Principal Investigators: Rebecca Weiss, MLA. & Barry Rosenfeld, Ph.D., A B.P.P.

Experiences:

¢ Conducted comprehensive assessments with adults from West Africa seeking
asylum through the Program for Survivors of Torture (PSOT) at Bellevue Hospital.
The purpose of the study was to validate measures of malingering (e.g., M-FAST,
TOMM, Dot Counting Test, TSI-2) in this population.

Research Assistant : _

UMASS Medical School, Department of Psychiatry, Worcester, MA

Project. Women's Risk and Treatment for Intimate Partner Violence (Psychiatry

Research Fellowship Award)

Principal Investigator: Laura S. Guy, Ph.D.

Experiences:

¢ Conducted comprehensive assessments (e.g., PAI, URICA) with female
perpetrators of intimate partner violence prior to and following the completion of a
group therapy intervention.

Research Coordinator I )

UMASS Medical School, Department of Psychiatry, Worcester, MA

National Youth Screening and Assessment Project

Supervisors: Thomas Grisso, Ph.D. & Valerie Williams, MLA., M.S.

Experiences:

¢ Provided technical assistance and training on mental health and risk screening
and assessment practices to targeted sites in all four states participating in the
MacArthur Foundation’s “Models for Change™ (MfC) Initiative
(Pennsylvania, Washington, Illinois, and Louisiana).
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* Assisted juvenile justice programs with the registration, implementation and
ongoing use of the Massachusetts Youth Screening Instrument- Version 2
(MAYSI-2).

 Provided technical support to users of MAY SIWARE, the electronic version
of the MAYSI-2.

Project: Youth Risk/Needs Assessment for Recidivism: Implementation and

Effectiveness Study (John D, & Catherine T. MacArthur Foundation Grant)

Principal Investigator: Gina Vincent, Ph.D.

Co-Investigator: Laura Guy, Ph.D.

Experiences:

¢ Conducted phone interviews with juvenile probation officers in two states
(Louisiana and Pennsylvania) at time points following the implementation of
valid risk/needs assessment tools.

¢ Coded juvenile probation officer interview transcripts according to an
established codebook in order to qualitatively examine the outcomes of

implementation,
TEACHING EXPERIENCE
01/14 to 05/16 Instructor: Department of Psychology, Fordham University

Undergraduate Courses:
Forensic Psychology (PSYC 3820)
Law and Psychology (PSYC 4340)

Graduate Courses:
Clinical Diagnosis Laboratory (PSYC 7121)

09/11 to 05/12 Teaching Assistant: Department of Psychology, Fordham Univérsity
Undergraduate Courses: ,
Foundations of Psychology Lab, Three sections (PSYC 1200)

HONORS AND AWARDS _
2017 Outstz{nding Student Presentation in Corrections Research
American Psychology-Law Society 2017 Conference Award
2017 GSA Professional Development Grant
Fordham University
2017 ' GSAS Research Support Grant
’ Fordham University

2012, 2013, 2014 GSA Travel Award
Fordham University

2008, 2009 Provost Fund Grant
Roger Williams University
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2007 to 2009 Master of Arts in Forensic Psychology Grant
Roger Williams University

2003 to 2007 Psi Chi National Honor Society in Psychology
Saint Anselm College

2003 to 2007 Presidential Scholar Academic Scholarship
Saint Anselm College

2003 to 2007 Elks Regional Scholar Academic Scholarship
Elks Club, Worcester, MA

2003 to 2007 Dean’s List 8/8 semesters
Saint Anselm College

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE

National :

2015 to Present Student Reviewer/Reviewer
Child and Youth Care Forum

2012 to Present Student Reviewer/Reviewer

International Journal of Forensic Mental Health

2010 to 2015 Student Reviewer ’
American Psychology- Law Society Annual Conference
Areas: Risk assessment, developmental/juvenile justice, risk assessment

2010 t0 2013 Student Reviewer
American Psychological Association Annual Conference
- Areas: Jury decision making, expert testimony, division 41 proposals

2010 Committee Reviewer
MacArthur Models for Change SF“ Annual Working Conference
Reviewed 35 proposals submitted for inclusion

Departmental
2012 t0 2014 Student Interviewer

Fordham University, Department of Psychology

2012 to 2013 Class Representative

Fordham University, Department of Psychology
ADDITIONAL TRAININGS
2016 . Psychopathy and the Psychopathy Checklist-Revised (PCL-R)

Worcester Recovery Center and Hospital, Forensic Service, Worcester, MA
Instructor: Ashley Murray, Ph.D.
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Juvenile Competence Workshop
Summer Training Institute, John Jay College, NY, NY
Instructor: Ivan Kruh, Ph.D.

HCR-20 Training
Fordham University, NY, NY
Instructor: Barry Rosenfeld, Ph.D., A.B.P.P.

MMPI-2-RF Workshop
Fordham University, NY, NY
Instructor: Yossef Ben-Porath, Ph.D.

Use of the Psychepathy Checklist-Revised, 2" Edition (PCL-R) and the
Psychopathy Checklist-Revised: Screening Version (PCL: SV)

UMASS Medical School, Worcester, MA

Instructor: Gina Vincent, Ph.D.

The Structured Assessment of Violence Risk for Youth (SAVRY)
UMASS Medical School, Worcester, MA
Instructors: Gina Vincent, Ph.D. & Laura Guy, PH.D.

Peer-Reviewed Journal Articles

1. Janopaul-Naylor, E., Morin, S. L., Mullin, B., Lee, E., & Barrett, J. G. (2019). Promising approaches to
police—mental health partnerships to improve service utilization for at-risk youth. Translational Issues in
Psychological Science, 5(2), 206-215. doi:10.1037/tps0000196

2. Holloway, E. D., Cruise, K. R., Morin, S. L., Hinz, H., & Steele, R. (2018). Juvenile probation officers’
evaluation of traumatic event exposures and traumatic stress symptoms as responsivity factors in risk
assessment and case planning. Law and Human Behavior, 2(4): 369-384. doi:10.1037/Thb0000283

3. Morin, S. L., Cruise, K. R,, Hinz, H., Holloway, E. D., & Chapman, J. F. (2015). Content, structure, and
usefulntss of _]uvemle predJsposmon psychologxcal evaluations. Child & Youth Care Forum, 44(6) 893-
. 917. doi: 10.1007/510566-015-9312-3

4. Guy, L. S, Vincent, G. M., Nelson, R., & Fusco-Morin, S. (2014). What do juvenile probatlon officers
think of using the SAVRY and YLS/CMI for case management, and do they use the tools properly.
International Journal of Forensic Mental Health Services, 13(3),227-241.

5. Vincent, G. M., Guy, L. 8., Fusco, S. L., & Gershenson, B. G. (2012). Field Reliability of the SAVRY
with Juvenile Probation Officers. Law and Human Behavior, 36(3), 225-236.

6. Fusco, S. L., & Platania, J. (2011). Understanding perceptions of hypnotically recovered memories in a
civil sexual abuse case. Journal of Forensic Psychology Practice, 11{4), 330-350,
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Book Chapters and Other Publications

1. Viljoen, J. L., Nicholls, T. L., Cruise, K. R., Beneteau-Douglas, J., Desmarais, S. L., Barone, C. C.,.
Petersen, K., Morin, S. L., & Webster, C. D. (2016). START: AV knowledge guide: A research
compendium on the START:AV strength and vulnerability items. Burnaby, BC: Simon Fraser University.

2. Cruise, K. R., Morin, S. L., & Affleck, K. (2015). Res1deﬁt1al interventions with justice involved youth. In

K. Hellbrun, D. DeMatteo & N. Goldstein (Eds.), Handbook of p.sychology and juvenile justice.
Washington, DC: Amencan Psychological Association.

3. Models for Change Juvenile Diversion Workgroup (2011). Juvenile Diversion Guidebook. Models for
Change: Systems Reform in Juvenile Justice.

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

1. Morin, S. L., Barrett, J. G., & Janopaul-Naylor, E. (2018, March). Mental health and service use outcomes
of a pre-complaint police-based juvenile diversion program. Paper presented at the 2018 Annual
Conference of the American Psychology-Law Society, Memphis, Tennessee.

2. Barrett, J. G, Morin, S. L., & Janopaul-Naylor, E. (2018, March). Effectiveness of a pre-complaint police-
based juvenile diversion program in reducing recidivism. Poster presented at the 2018 Annual Conference
of the American Psychology-Law Society, Memphis, Tennessee.

3. Morin, S. L., & Cruise, K. R. (2017, March). Determining treatment needs and recidivism risk of juveniles -
with sexual offense adjudications: Primary and secondary C-U traits. Poster presented at the 2017 Annual
Conference of the American Psychology-Law Society, Seattle, Washington.

4. Holloway, E. D., Cruise, K. R., Morin, S. L., Hinz, H., & Viljoen, J. L. (2017, March). An application of
the adherence checklist for the evaluation and reduction of risk (ACERR) to evaluate case plans developed
by juvenile probation officers. Paper presented at the 2017 Annual Conference of the American
Psychology-Law Society, Seattle, Washington. '

5. Holloway, E. D, Cruise, K. R., Morin, S. L., Hinz, H., & Steele, R. (2016, June). Risk assessment and
case planning by juvenile probation officers: investigating the role of trauma as a responsivity factor.
Paper presented at the 2016 Annual Conference of the Intematlonal Association of Forensic Mental Health
Services, New York, New York.

6. Morin (Fusco), S. L., Cruise, K. R., Hinz, H., Holloway, E., Chapman, J., & Duran, T. (2014, March).
Content, structure, and usefulness of juvenile predisposition psychological evaluations. Poster presented at
the 2014 Annual Conference of the American Psychology—Law Society, New Orleans, Louisiana.

7. Gamache, K., Weipert, R., & Morin (Fusco), 8. L. (2014, March). Active shooters: The predictive utility of
critical factors on the magmmde of the event. Symposium presented at the 2014 Annual Conference of the -
American Psychology-Law Society, New Orleans, Louisiana.

8. Fusco, S. L., Affleck, K. C., Cruise, K. R., Gaveras, G. (2013, March). Examining co-occurring mental
health/risk management needs in at-risk youth: Do parents and youth agree? Paper presented at the 2013
Annual Conference of the American Psychology-Law Society, Portland, Oregon.

9. Fusco, S. L., Guy, L. S., Nelson, R., Conti, K., Bennet, M. M., Dowd, L., & Vincent, G. (2012, March).
Female perpetrated aggression: Characteristics and treatment needs of anger management group
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10.

11.

12,

participants. Poster presented at the 2012 Annual Conference of the American Psychology-Law Society,
San Juan, Puerto Rico.

Fusco, 8. L., Cook, N. E., & Maney, S. (2012, March). Mental health symptoms among Hispanic youth in
Juvenile justice: Language and gender differences. Symposium presented at the 2012 Annual Conference
of the American Psychology-Law Society, San Juan, Puerto Rico.

Conti, K., Guy, L. S, Nelson, R., & Fusco, S. L. (2012, March). Investigating the URICA-DV-R among
women in anger management group treatment. Poster presented at the 2012 Annual Conference of the
American Psychology-Law Society, San Juan, Puerto Rico.

Gamache, K., Weipert, R. E., Griffen, K., & Fusco, S. L. (2012, March). "I don't like Mondays": An
explorative look at the characteristics of Active Shooters. Poster presented at the 2012 Annual Conference

- of the American Psychology-Law Society, San Juan, Puerto Rico.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Nelson, R., Guy, L. S., Conti, K., & Fusco, S. L. (2012, March). Female perpetrated intimate partner
violence and treatment attrition. Poster presented at the 2012 Annual Conference of the American
Psychology-Law Society, San Juan, Puerto Rico.

Guy, L. S,, Fusco, S. L., Hilterman, E., & Vincent, G. M. (2011, June). Experiences using the SAVRY in
the field: A comparison of Spanish clinicians and American probation officers. In, SAVRY risk
management, one step ahead of risk assessment. Symposium presented at the 11" Annual
Conference of the International Association of Forensic Mental Health Services (IAFMHS),
Barcelona, Spain.

Fusco, 8. L., Perrault, R. T., Paiva, M., Cook, N. E., & Vincent, G. M. (2011, March). Probation officer
perceptions of gender differences in youth offending and implications for practice in the field. Paper
presented at the 2011 meeting of the American-Psychology-Law Society, Miami, FL.

Paiva, M., Fusco, 8. L., & Vincent, G. M. (2011, March). Socioeconomic Status: Does it affect juvenile
compliance while on probation? Poster presented at the 2011 meeting of the American-Psychology-
Law Society, Miami, FL.

Cook, N. E., Fusco, S. L., Guy, L. S., & Vincent, G. M. (2011, March). Decision making and use of
risk/needs assessment tools in juvenile probation. In, Use of the SAVRY and YLS/CMI in Juvenile
Probation: Implementation Study. Symposium presented at the 2011 meeting of the American-
Psychology-Law Society, Miami, FL. '

Guy, L. S., Fusco, S. L., Cook, N. E., & Vincent, G. M. (2010, August). Juvenile probation officers’
experiences using risk/needs assessment tools in the field. In, E.P. Mulvey & C.A. Schubert (Chairs),
Empirically Based Approaches for Improving the Juvenile Justice System. Symposium presented at the
118" meeting of the American Psychological Association, San Diego, CA.

Guy, L.S., Fusco, S. L., Cook, N. E., & Vincent, G. M. (2010, May). Juvenile probation officers’
decision-making processes and experiences using risk/needs assessment tools in the field. Paper
presented at the 10th Annual meeting of the International Association of Forensic Mental Health
Services, Vancouver, Canada.
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20. Gamache, K., Weipert, R., Fusco, S. L., Rowback, I., & Paiva, M. (2009, August). “She had it coming”’: A
comparative look at domestic violence blame atmbut!ons Poster presented at the 117% meetlng of the
American Psychological Association, Toronto, Canada.

21. Fusco, 8, L., & Platania, J. (2009, March). Understanding perceptibns of hypnotically-recovered memories
in a civil sexual abuse case. Poster presented at the meeting of the American Psychology-Law Society, San
Antonio, TX.

22. Platania, J., Small, R., Fusco, 8. L., Miller, M., & Perrault, R. (2008, August). Investigating legal _
safeguards against prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument. In, V. Stinson (Chair), Death Penalty.
Paper session conducted at the 116™ meeting of the American Psychological Association, Boston, MA.

23. Fusco, S. L., & Finn, P. (2007, March). Critical incident stress debriefing (CISD): A comparison of law

enforcement/arson professionals and college students secking careers in arson/law enforcement. Poster
presented at the meeting of the Eastemn Psychological Association, Philadelphia, PA.

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

2013 to Present Society for a Science of Clinical Psychology (SSCP)

2011 to Present Association for Psychological Science (APS)
2007 to Present American Psychological Association (APA): Divisions 12, 41, 53, and 56

2006 to Present Eastern Psychological Association (EPA)
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" CURRICULUM VITAE
Name: Erin R. Barnett, Ph. D.

Address:
PHMC, Department of Psychiatry
One Medical Center Drive
Dartmouth Trauma Interventions Research Center, 46 Centerra, Rm 207
Lebanon, NH 03756

Date prepared: May 21st, 2024

I.‘EducatillJn
2008-2009 Clinical Psychology Pre-Doctoral Intern, Dartmouth Medical School
2006-2009 University of Missouri-St. Louis Ph.D., Clinical Psychology
2004-2006 University of Missouri-5t. Louis M.A., Clinical Psychology
2000-2004 University of Nebraska-Omaha B.A., Psychology

&
ll. Post-doctoral training
2009-2010 Dartmouth Medical School / VA's National Center for PTSD

lll. Academic appointments

2022-current  Departments of Psychiatry and The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy and Clinical
: Practice, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Associate Professor

- 2017-current  The Dartmouth Institute for Health Policy and Clinical Practice, Assistant Professor
 2013-2022 Department of Psychiatry, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth, Assistant Professor
IV. Institutional Leadership Roles NA

V. Licensure and certification

2015 C'ertified Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy clinician

2014 Rostered Child Parent Psychotherapy clinician

2010 Licensed clinical psychologist NH #1206
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VI. Hospit_al Appointments

2016-cu rrent Psychologist, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

Vil Othe.r professional positions

2009-2013 WVA’s National Center for PTSD Research Psychologist
2009-present Woest Central Behaviorai Health Psychologist/Clinician (15% FTE)
VIII. Professional Development . Y

Completed NIH grant writing workshop, by J. Robertson, 2018

Compléted Writing Seminar hosted by TDI, R. Drake, S. Woloshin, L. Schwartz, 2018
IX. Teaching activities

A. Undergraduate Medical Education NA

B. Graduate Education

2018 Geisel School of Medicine Master's of Co-director,
The Dartmouth Institute for Public Health Social and Behavioral
Health Policy and Clinical . Determinants of Health,
Practice 55 students

€. Undergraduate Medical Education NA
D. Graduate Medical Education

2022-present  Geisel School of Medicine Providing best practice  Seminar lecturer, 60 min

at Dartmouth in community mental health
2019 Geisel School of Medicine Building shared decision Seminar lecturer, 60 min
at Dartmouth making in child psychiatry

2012-present Geisel School of Medicine Early'childhood trauma Seminar lecturer, 60 min
at Dartmouth and attachment Annual

2012-present  Geisel School of Medicine PTSD in children and Seminar lecturer, 60 min

at Dartmouth adolescents Annual
2009-2017 Geisel School of Medicine  Acceptance and Seminar lecturer, 60 min
at Dartmouth Commitment Therapy  Annual

2009-present  Geisel School of Medicine Trauma Seminar for Facilitator, 90 min weekly
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at Dartmouth psychology interns seminar

E. Other Clinical Education

2021-present  CBT supervision - Clinical Bi-monthly supervision
Juliette Madan, Psychiatry Supervisor :
Fellow

2016-present " Trauma-Informed Early Developer, Nine 6-hour trainings
Childhood Services Presenter

2013-2017 Trauma-Focused Cognitive Co-presenter  Four 2-day trainings

Behavioral Therapy

2013-2017 Child-Parent Co-presenter  Four 2-day trainings
Psychotherapy

2012-2017 Clinical supervisor, Clinical Dept. of Psychiatry, Geisel
clinical psychology interns {4) Supervisor West- Central Behavioral Health

and doctoral fellows {1)
F. Graduate Teaching

2018 Social Determinants of Health Co-course director  The Dartmouth Institute
MPH residential program

G. Other Professional/Academic Programs

2010-2011 UNH/ Granite State College, Taught two 12 hour courses and one 6 hour course to foster parents
and professionals on child trauma and traumatic stress

X. Primary Research Advising

A. Undergraduate students

2023 Catherine Gorman Research advisor Dartmouth College
2023 Emilia Callahan Research advisor Dartmouth College
2022 Anna Politi Research advisor Dgrtmouth College
2019 Brendon Lee, BS Research advisor for Carleton College

summer internship

B. Graduate students

2021-2022 TDI MPH Independent Learning Thesis Research The Dartmouth Institute
Experience, Accelerated Master's Advisor



2021

2020

-2019

2018

2017-2019

2017-2018

Urvya lyer
TDI MPH spring intern
Philip Hession

TDI MPH spring intérn
Kieshan Amarakaran

TDI MPH spring intern
Chibuzo Aguwa

TDI MPH spring intern
Tanya Butt -

TDI MPH student
Alissa Trepman

Capstone Research
Advisor, TDI MPH program
10 students

C. Medical students

D. Residents/Fellows

Julia Najm, T32 post-doctoral

2023-2025
fellow ‘

2016-2017  Sarah Cleary, post-doctoral
fellow

,2014-2015 ' Katrin Neuba(:‘her, post-doctoral )
fellow ’

XI: Advising/Mentoring

A. Undergraduate

2021

2016

Joslin Wainwright, BA

Aubree Kozie, BA

B. Graduate students

C. Medical students

Preceptor/
Research Advisor

Preceptor/

" Research Advisor

Preceptor/
Research Advisor

Preceptor/.

Research Advisar -

Research Advisor

Research Advisor
{10% FTE)

Research Mentor

Research Supervisor

Research Supervisor

Senior spring internship

supervisor
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The Dartmouth Institute
The Dartmouth Institute
The Dartmouth Institute

The Dartmouth Institute

The Dartmouth Institute

The Dartmouth Institute

Dept of Psychiatry, Geisel
Dept of Psychiatry, Geisel

Dept of Psychiatry, Geisel

Colby-Sawyer College

Seniorspring internship  Bennington College

supervisor
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D. Residents/Fellows

2020-2021 Christina Moore, MS™ - . pre-doctoral intern Dept. of Psychiatry, Geisel
Professional development
advisor '

2019-2020 Ra¢hel Herman, MS . pre-doctoral intern Dépt. of Psychiatry, Geisel
Professional development g
advisor

E. Faculty -

2021-current Kaitlyn Ahlers, PhD Junior faculty Dept. of Psychiatry, Gelsel

, Professional development,

Named mentor on foundation
grant application

2020—current James T. Craig, PhD Junior faculty Dept. of Psychiatry, Geisel

Mentored NIH R34 proposal

XIl. Engagement, Advocacy, Community Service, Community Education

2023

2022

2021

2020

2020

2018-

Current _

2019

2018

End Child Abuse & Neglect {EndCAN) national coalition, Action:Circle member

Dresden School District, School Board Strategic Plan, Student Su pport Servu:es Subcommittee
Member -

Presented to The Vérmonlt Collaborative on Adverse Childhood -Experiences. The Collaborative is
a community-based organization that engages VT middle and high schoo! youth aiming to learn

about and prevent substance misuse in themselves and others. 1.5 hours.

Vldeography interview for TIME documentary, The Opioid Diaries: Born in Withdrawal, with Diane
Tsai, producer 4 hours.

Partnered with NH New Futures child advocate Cheryl Avery.to draft and support NH Iegislati\}e

~ bill, proposed by Rep William Marsh to promote improved oversight around the use of

psychotropic medications for NH children in foster care

Invited to present to the Leadership Upper Valley on Adverse Childhood Experiences and the
Workplace, Annual. 1 hour.

= Content expert for the Public Health Council of the prer Valley legislative meeting with 30+ bi-

state legislators focused on child abuse and neglect, 2 hours

Interviewed for Psychology Today for a piece about over-medication of youth in foster care in NH
following release of the DHHS Office of the Inspector General report naming NH as having one of
the top 5 highest prescription rates to this population, by Devon Frye. 1 hour *



2018

2018

2017

2017

2016

2009-2010
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Interviewed for Slate Magazine for a plece about over-medication of immigrant/refugee chlldren
detained at Shiloh treatment center at the border, by D. Engber. 1 hour

Led community support initiative at the Claremont Recovery Center through partnership with
local church. 2 hours

Led community fundraiser for West-Central Behavioral Health Child Claremont Clinic through
partnership with local business. 3 hours

Panel expert following Resilience documentary, with focus on child and community trauma. The

‘Red River Theater, Concord, NH. 3 hours

Interviewed for the Dartmouth Alumni Magazine for a piece about trauma and PTSD, After the
Fire, S. Spencer-Rendahl. 1 hour

US DHHS SAMHSA's National Child Trauﬁatic Stress Network, Breakthrough Series Collaborative
to improve placement stability for local children in foster care. 34 hours {2 two day meetings;
monthly community meetings, bimonthly consultation calls)
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Xlll. Research Activities .

A. Sponsored Activity {Grants and Contracts)

CURRENT
1. Key personnel

Charles H. Hood Foundation

' Elwyn (P1) 4/1/23-3/31/25
Decreasing harms and improving child health: An intervention to reduce inappropriate use of antipsychotics and polypharmacy.
This 2-year project will test the feasibility and acceptability of a psychotropic deprescribing intervention-aiming to increase
shared decisions and implement a deprescribing protocol to improve the safe and effective use of psychotropics among youth
receiving off-label antipsychatics or psychotropic polypharmacy. .
Role: Co-Principal Investigator, 10% FTE - $202,500 annual directs {$405,000 total directs)

US Department of Health-and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Menta! Health Administration

" 1H795M084710-01 Barnet-(PI) ) 12/31/22-12/3026
Upstream 2: Increasing mental health and trauma identification and referrals for youth ages. 12-18 years.

The Upstream2 project will provide evidence-based mental health and trauma training and consultation

to health, community, and service professionals serving youth ages 12-18 and their families across 6 counties in bordering
NH and VT. Our primary goal is to increase the capacity for identification of trauma and mental health needs in youth and
link families to needed services.

Role: Principal [nvestigator,. 12% FTE $122,000 annual directs {$464,560 total directs)

US Department of Health and HumanServices, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration

90C01099/01 : . Jankowski and Barnett (co-m/Pls} 10/1/21-9/30/26
Improving Care for Children and Youth in NH with Trauma and Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities

Our goal is to improve outcomes for children and youth ages 0-21 with intellectual and developmental disabilities,
including autism ([DD) who are affected by trauma, across the state of New Hampshire. 7

Role: co/m-Principal Investigator, 30% FTE $260,000 annual directs (51.3 million total directs)

NH Department of Health and Human Services :
State contract . Barnett {(Pl) 3/26/22 - 2/1/24
NH Rapid Response Behavioral Health Crisis Transformation

* The primary goal of our work is to evaluate the new state rapid response/moblle crisis system.

Role Prmupal Investigator, 20% FTE

US Department of Health andHuman Services, Substance Abuse and Méntal Health Administration

1H79SM080245-01 Brunette (PI) ' 10/1/18-9/30/23 “
ProHealth-NH: New Hampshire Partnerships to Improve Health & Weliness for Young People with SED and SM]
. Role: Consultant/Trainer, 2.5% FTE _ $398,726 annual directs ($1.99 million total direct)

US Department of Health and Human Ser\nces, Admmlstratlon for Children Youth and Famllzes Children’s Bureau

50CU0109-01-00 - Jankowski & Barnett {co/m-Pls) 10/1/19 —-9/30/24

Partners to Promote Safety, Permanency and Well-Being for Families Affected by Substance Use (P2P)

The primary goals of P2P are to improve the safety, permanency, well-being, and family functioning of children
,0-18 yrs in or at-risk for being placed outside the home due to parental substance use, and to improve engagement
“and addiction treatment outcomes for parents and caregivers. The target region for P2P activities spans two
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rural neighboring counties (Grafton and Sullivan) of New Hampshire.
‘Role: Co/Multi Principal Investigator, 25% FTE $460,000 annual directs {$2.0 million total direct)

US Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Administration
1H795M082302-01 Jankowski (P1) 9/1/19 - 8/30/24
Project Launch Upper Valley: Promoting a Healthy Start for Young Children and their Families :

We aim to increase our community’s ability to identify, engage and serve at-risk and trauma-affected

families with evidence-based early intervention services, with an eventual goal of influencing early

childhood policy and practice in two Northern New England states. Project Launch UV will focus activities at four
tiered levels by raising public awareness and decrease stigma for young children’s BH needs; screening of children
0-8 and their caregivers in six primary care clinics, and providing trauma-informed care training to the workforce
(e.g., early education and care, health, BH); providing targeted supports to enhance engagement and increase access
to care, and provide expert BH consultation for our professional workforce that serves young children and their
caregivers; and building capacity for two evidence-based parenting interventions

Role: Co-investigator, 25% FTE $524,000 annual directs ($2.6 million total directs)
PAST .

US Department of Health and Human Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration
1H795M081151-01 Barnett (PI) 10/1/18-9/30/21

Upstream Upper Valley: Increasing early childhood mental health ond trauma awareness among community health
and service providers

The Upstream project will provide evidence-based mental health and trauma training and consultation

to health, community, and service professionals serving young children and families across 3 counties in NH

and VT. Our primary goal is to increase the capacity for identification of trauma and mental health needs in young
children and link families to needed services. '

Role: Principal Investigator, 20% FTE $113,000 annual directs ($342,000 total directs)

US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office for Victims of Crime  Barnett (Pl)

Moving Upstream: Burldmg a Trauma-Informed Community Response for Our Youngest Victims of the

Opioid Crisis in Cheshire County

2018-v3-GX-0078 Barnett (Pi) 10/1/18-9/30/21
Our overall goal is to enhance our community response to children ages 0-8 years victimized by

our opioid crisis through expert training, consultation and coalition activities that implement trauma-sensitive
practices across multiple sectors serving young children and families across the county.

Role: Principal Investigator, 15% FTE $133,000 annual directs ($366,000 total directs)

Patient-Centered Qutcomes Research Institute Barnett {PI) 8/1/17 —7/31/18
5093717-012

Developing Patient-Driven Research to Improve the Psychiatric Care of Youth in Foster Care

The goal of this PCORI project is to build community engagement and capacity toward the generation of comparative
effectiveness research ideas that build and evaluate patient-driven psychiatric practices for youth in foster care. |
Pipeline to Proposal: Tier Il

Role: Principal Investigator, 8% FTE $20,000 directs
DHHS Administration for Children and Families Mullen, Jankowski (cofm-Pls} 10/1/13 —-9/30/18
90C01115/01

The NH Adoption Preparation and Preservation Project
The goal of this 5-year demonstration grant is to improve adoption stability for youth in NH through trauma-
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informed workforce development.

Role: co-investigator, 30% FTE ' $290,000 annual direct ($1.5 million total direct)
DHHS Administration for Children and Families Jankowski (Pl) 10/1/12 - 9/30/17
90C01099/01 '

The Partners for Change Project: Impraving Well-Being for Youth in the NH Child Welfare System
The goal of this 5-year demonstration grant is to improve the well-being of children in the NH child welfare
and juvenile justice system through trauma-informed workforce development with child welfare and mental
health staff.
Role: co-investigator, 30% FTE _ $429,000 annual directs ($2.1 million total directs)

Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute Barnett (PI) 8/1/16 —4/30/17
Developing Patient-Driven Research to Improve the Psychiatric Care of Youth in Foster Care

The goal of this PCORI project is to build community engagement and capacity toward the generation of
comparative effectiveness research ideas that build and evaluate patient-driven psychiatric practices for

youth in foster care. Pipeline to Proposal: Tier 1.

Role: Principal Investigator, 8% FTE $12,000 directs

Neil and Louise Tillotson Foundation Barnett (PI) 7/1/16 - 6/30/17
Building o model of coordinated care toward safe and effective psychotropic medications for vulnerable '
children in Coos County .

The goal of the study is to develop and pilot-test a protocol that facilitates team discussions and decisions

centered on individual children regarding the use of psychotropic medications and other wellness topics.

Role: Principal Investigator, 20% FTE $45,000 directs

Gary Tucker Ir Award, Psychiatry, Dartmouth Barnett (PI) 7/1/15 - 6/30/16
QOur Minds Our Choice: Developing and Piloting an Option Grid around Interventions for Complex Behavior
Problems in Children . ) '

The goal of this project was to develop - with parents, clinicians, and stakeholders - and pilot-test a.1 page

Option Grid decision aid to improve decision-making related to the use of varicus classes of medications

and therapy for children’s complex behavior problems.

Role: Principal Investigator, 8% FTE 520,000 directs

2. Non-key personnel

NH Innovation Research Ctr, Granite State Tech. Innovation Grant  Stanger (Pl) 11/1/17 — 6/30/18
UNH 18-014 )

Integrating Coaches to Promote Engagement with an M-Health Collaborative Care App

The research collaboration seeks to test such a modification of an existing m-health collaborative care app

{Proxi) to include Mobile Coaches (MCs) to promote user engagement and maximize its utility for use with youth
aging out of foster care.

Role: content expert, 5% FTE ‘ ' $46,000 directs

B. Pending Submissions

C. Clinical Faculty

2009-present West-Central Behavioral Health, Claremont and Lebanon, NH, child and family clinician, 15% FTE
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XIV. Program Development

Vulnerable Children’s Research Group, Founding Member. With encouragement and guidance from Drs. R. Drake,

S. Woloshin, and L. Schwartz, | was a founding member of the Vulnerable Children’s Research Group,

anchored in Geisel’s TDI. This group was created in 2017 in response to aligning research interests of TDI,

Psychiatry, and Pediatrics faculty members around the judicious use of psychotropic medications in children. TDI has
a long history of studying over-treatment and quaternary prevention. Psychiatry, too, has had a remarkable

history in promoting shared decision making in adults with severe mental illness. However, no research team within
Geisel has aligned these two areas of study and applied them to child psychiatry. Even more novel is this group’s
focus on deprescribing high risk psychotropic medications in children, an area of inquiry that is just taking root in the
field, and in which | am leading within the VCRG team. One measure of our progress is in multidisciplinary grant
proposals and publications. Our team has written several grant proposals, including a submission to NIH’s NICHD
(not funded, but highly scored) and. to the Hood Foundation (not funded, but invited to the final round). We have
published, to date, 4 peer-reviewed papers, with 2 additional papers in progress.

Role: Co-founder with R. Drake {TDI, Geisel), S. Woloshin {TDI, Geisel), L. Schwartz (TDI Geisel),

J. Mclaren, (Psychiatry, Pediatrics, TDI, Geisel), 2017-present

NH SafeRx: Working together for safe and effective psychotropic medications for NH children, Founding Member.
NH SafeRx brought together a multidisciplinary team, anchored within the Dept of Psychiatry and NH DHHS,

with the task of providing oversight to children in NH foster care. The goals of our program spanned advocacy,
research, and clinical domains. Members of NH SafeRx included leaders within NH DHHS

Medicaid, Division of Children Youth and Families, Bureau of Children’s Behavioral Health, and Geisel’s Dept of
Psychiatry. We gathered data about the use of high risk medications and atypical antipsychotic monitoring in NH
foster children; developed resources for families and clinicians, including training (with CMEs offered) to prescribing
clinicians serving this population and a new NH DHHS webpage to manage these resources. We measured our success
by policy and practice changes. Our team instituted a new NH DCYF policy providing safety and monitoring
expectations to prescribing clinicians and child welfare workers, and, we established contracts between NH DHHS
and the two NH Medicaid MCOs to provide audit and monitoring services.”

Role: Co-founder with W. B. Daviss {Psychiatry, Geisel), E. Ungarelli (NH DHHS), M. Donati {NH DHHS), 2012-2018

Creating a Trauma-informed Mountain, Youth Residential Center and Special Needs School, Co-Developer. |
co-developed a train-the-trainer program, with expert training, consultation, and reflective practice groups to
develop trauma-informed policies and practices at Crotched Mountain Rehabilitation Center, NH. This educational
and research activity included 3 years of policy and practice analysis, leadership collaboration, staff trainings, and -
staff consultation. We measured our success through policy and practice changes (e.g., requirement of all staff

. to receive trauma-informed care training) as well as changes in crises, restraints, and seclusions. See Barnett, Yackley,
& Licht, 2018.

Role: Co-developer with C. Yackley {Psychiatry, Geisel), 2014-2017

Trauma-Informed Early Childhood Services, Co-beveloper. Sponsored by the NH DHHS Maternal and Child Health, |
co-developed a state-wide train-the-trainer program and curriculum for early childhood professionals focused on
understanding and sensitively providing child care to young children and their families experiencing trauma and
attachment disturbances. We measured our success by the number of trainers trained in the curriculum as well as
number of child care providers, state-wide, receiving the training.

Role: Co-developer with C. Yackley (Psychiatry, Geisel), 2014-2016

XV. Entrepreneurial activities NA
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XVI. Major Committee Assignments
National/international
SAMHSA review committee, SM-20-005, National Child Traumatic Stress Initiative, Category lll Site Applications, 2020
~ SAMHSA review committee, SM-17-009, Resiliency in Communities After Stress and Trauma, 2018
Regional NA
institutional NA
XVIl. Memberships, office and committee assignments in professfonal societies NA

XVII. Editorial Boards

2023-present  Frontiers in Psychiatry Guest Editor for Special Issue
2022-present  Child Abuse &Neglect Editorial Review Board
2019-present  Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, and Practice Editorial Review Board

2004-2006 Society for the Psychology of Women Assistant Editor

XIX. Journal Referee Activity

2013 - 2022 Child Abuse & Neglect Ad hoc Reviewer
2019 - present  Child Maltreatment Ad hoc Reviewer
2013 — present  Child & Adolescent Mental Health Ad hoc Reviewer
2013 —present  Children & Youth Services Review Ad hoc Reviewer
2018 — present  Administration and Policy in Mental Health Ad hoc Reviewer
2018 - present  Journal of Child and Family Studies Ad hoc Reviewer
2015 — present  Journal of Traumatic Stress Ad hoc Reviewer
2015 - present  Journal of Clinical Psychology Ad hoc Reviewer
2007 — present  Psychology of Women Quarterly Ad hoc Reviewer

XX. Awards and Honors
2019 Co-authored “Article of the Year” for the Child Maltreatment journal

2016 Gary Tucker Junior Investigator Award, Geisel School of Medicine’s Department of
Psychiatry, $20,000

2012 Exceptional Contributions to Research and Education, National Center for PTSD, $900
2011 Exceptional Contributions to Research and Education, National Center for PTSD, $1000
2007 Lou Sherman Graduate Student Award, UM-St. Louis, $2000

XXL. Invited Presentations (selected)
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*[ndicates personal invitation, # indicates accepted at national meetmg or conference,
A indicates applicable as a CME/CEUs activity

International location:

*Barnett, £. R., Concepcion-Zayas, M. T., & McLaren, J. L. (November 2022). Deprescribing psychotropic medications in
children. Presented virtually as aa brief presentation at the Australian Deprescribing Network Conference.

*ABarnett, E.R. & Seely, L. (October 2020). Building a Trauma-informed Community Response to our Youngest
Victims of the Opioid Crisis. Presented as a webinar to the Canadian Practice and Research Together (PART)
Trauma Informed Care and Trauma-Informed Practice Child Welfare series.

*ABarnett, E.R. (May 2018). Psychotropic Medications for Youth in Child Welfare: Two Tools to Support Shared
Decision Making. Presented as a webinar to